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 LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF ONTARIO ASSEMBLÉE LÉGISLATIVE DE L’ONTARIO 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON 
JUSTICE POLICY 

COMITÉ PERMANENT 
DE LA JUSTICE  

 Wednesday 15 November 2006 Mercredi 15 novembre 2006 

The committee met at 0916 in room 151. 

SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT 
The Chair (Mr. Vic Dhillon): Good morning, every-

body. Welcome to the standing committee on justice 
policy. The order of business today is Bill 107, An Act to 
amend the Human Rights Code. This is our first day of 
public hearings in Toronto. We’ve met in London, 
Ottawa and Thunder Bay. 

To make these hearings as accessible as possible, 
American Sign Language interpretation and closed-
captioning services are being provided. Because contin-
uous interpretation is so demanding physically and men-
tally, the interpreters will be taking breaks from time to 
time. As well, two personal support attendants are pres-
ent in the room to provide assistance. 

The first order of business today is the motion for 
adoption of the subcommittee report. Can I get somebody 
to read the subcommittee report? 

Mr. Ted McMeekin (Ancaster–Dundas–Flambor-
ough–Aldershot): I’ll read it, Mr. Chair. 

Mr. Peter Kormos (Niagara Centre): A fine-tuned 
machine. 

Mr. McMeekin: Being the fine-tuned machine we 
are, I’ll read it. 

Your subcommittee considered on Thursday, October 
26 and Tuesday, November 14, 2006, the method of 
proceeding on Bill 107, An Act to amend the Human 
Rights Code, and recommends the following: 

(1) That the committee commence public hearings on 
Bill 107 in Toronto on November 15, 2006, and continue 
on all regularly scheduled committee meeting dates until 
the House rises for the winter recess. 

(2) That the committee request authorization from the 
House to extend the committee’s meeting time until 
12:30 p.m. on its regularly scheduled meeting dates until 
the House rises for the winter recess. 

(3) That the clerk of the committee commence 
scheduling witnesses in Toronto from the current list of 
those requesting to appear on a first-come, first-served 
basis. 

(4) That the Attorney General be invited to appear 
before the committee for 15 minutes at 9:15 a.m. on 
Wednesday, November 15, 2006—which is why I’m 
reading this so fast. 

(5) That witnesses on the London list be scheduled at a 
later date in order to accommodate additional requests 
made in response to the new advertisement. 

(6) That an advertisement be placed for one day in all 
Ontario English daily newspapers— 

The Chair: Mr. McMeekin, can I just ask that you 
slow down for the interpreters, please. 

Mr. McMeekin: Okay—Ontario French weekly 
newspapers, ethnic newspapers in Ontario and also be 
placed on the Ont.Parl channel, on the Voiceprint service, 
the Legislative Assembly website and in a press release. 

(7) That the advertisement state that hearings will 
commence in Toronto on November 15 and further dates 
and locations for hearings will depend on the response 
received. 

(8) That the deadline for those who wish to make an 
oral presentation on Bill 107 be December 15, 2006, de-
pendent upon the ability to place ads in the ethnic papers 
within a reasonable period of time. 

(9) That a subcommittee meeting be called to review 
the numbers on the list and the response received from 
the additional round of advertising and make decisions 
regarding meeting dates, locations and witnesses to be 
scheduled. 

(10) That the committee endeavour to hear from all 
those on the current list and from all those who request to 
appear by the deadline posted in the new advertisement. 

(11) That organizations appearing before the com-
mittee be given 30 minutes each and individuals be given 
20 minutes each in which to make their presentation. 

(12) That the ad specify that opportunities for video-
conferencing and teleconferencing may be provided to 
accommodate witnesses unable to appear in each lo-
cation. 

(13) That sign language interpretation, closed-
captioning and attendants for the disabled be provided for 
all public hearings on Bill 107. 

(14) That interpretation for languages in addition to 
English and French be provided on the request of wit-
nesses requiring such interpretation for their presenta-
tions. 

(15) That the committee meet in room 151, if possible, 
for public hearings and clause-by-clause consideration of 
Bill 107, depending on availability of the room. 

(16) That the subcommittee meet again to make deci-
sions on dates for clause-by-clause consideration. 
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(17) That the deadline for written submissions be the 
end of public hearings on Bill 107. 

(18) That the research officer provide the committee 
with a summary of witness presentations prior to clause-
by-clause consideration of the bill. 

(19) That options for videoconferencing or tele-
conferencing be made available to witnesses where 
reasonable. 

(20) That requests for reimbursement of reasonable 
travel expenses for witnesses to attend hearings be sub-
ject to approval by the Chair. 

(21) That the clerk of the committee, in consultation 
with the Chair, is authorized immediately to commence 
making any preliminary arrangements necessary to 
facilitate the committee’s proceedings. 

Mr. Chair, this is a report of your subcommittee. 
The Chair: Thank you very much. Any debate? 

Seeing none, all those in favour? Opposed? That’s 
carried. 

HUMAN RIGHTS CODE 
AMENDMENT ACT, 2006 

LOI DE 2006 MODIFIANT LE CODE 
DES DROITS DE LA PERSONNE 

Consideration of Bill 107, An Act to amend the 
Human Rights Code / Projet de loi 107, Loi modifiant le 
Code des droits de la personne. 

MINISTRY OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 
The Chair: The first order of business today is a 

presentation from Minister Michael Bryant. Good 
morning. 

Hon. Michael Bryant (Attorney General): Thank 
you, Chair. I believe I have 15 minutes. 

The Chair: Yes. 
Hon. Mr. Bryant: I’ve got a watch here, and if I’m 

able to finish early, then I will. I was here on time. 
I want to start by thanking the Chair and the com-

mittee for giving me the opportunity to come here to 
provide an update on the bill and to provide you with 
amendments proposed to Bill 107. We consulted with 
people before introducing the bill. We heard a number of 
voices after introduction of the bill that said changes 
were needed—that significant changes were needed. We 
are endeavouring to heed that call today by providing 
amendments to the committee now, in the proposed form 
that they are. We are going to offer a technical briefing 
for those interested. Tomorrow afternoon, I believe, 
we’re going to arrange a time and a place for MPPs. 
Should technical briefings be desired by others, we will 
make those available. 

I’m going to be referring to a document that I’ve 
spoken to Mrs. Elliott and Mr. Kormos about. It refers to 
proposed amendments to Bill 107. There’s a chart with 
the bill as it now stands and the proposed amendments, 
and this is being translated into 14 languages. For the 

visually impaired, there’s a number, to hear the text of 
the document. And I will endeavour to speak slowly, 
although it’s not my nature. 

I’m providing these amendments. It is a little unusual 
to provide proposed amendments at this stage in the pro-
ceedings. I’m doing so to give the committee the oppor-
tunity to consider the amendments and for the people 
who are appearing before the committee to consider these 
amendments, because it’s many of the people who are 
appearing before the committee who called for these 
amendments. They fall into four categories. I’ll go 
through each one and then I’ll try to provide a little bit of 
context for them. 

Firstly, amendments are being proposed to entrench in 
the bill a range of legal support services, entrenching the 
human rights legal support centre that will provide the 
legal assistance to complainants in Bill 107, in the legis-
lation. The amendments are proposed to clarify that a 
range of legal support services would be provided, such 
as information, advice, assistance and legal represent-
ation. Amendments will confirm public funding for the 
human rights legal support centre. Amendments will 
provide that the services would be available across the 
province and clarify that any person who is or has been 
or may be an applicant seeking a remedy at the tribunal 
will receive those services. 

Next, amendments are proposed to enhance the inde-
pendence of the commission. I can say with experience 
that the commission does operate in an independent 
fashion from the government. These amendments en-
trench that independence: 

—firstly, by requiring that the commission report 
directly to the people of Ontario through the Legislature; 

—next, by ensuring that appointed commissioners 
would, for the first time, be required to have an expertise 
in human rights. Minimum requirements and qualifica-
tions will be established; and 

—by amendments to clarify that the commission acts 
independently, in the public interest and at its own 
discretion, when it undertakes any of its functions. 

Next, amendments are proposed, at the behest of a 
number of voices in the human rights community and by 
the Human Rights Commission itself, to strengthen the 
commission’s investigative and public interest powers. 
These amendments include clarification of the com-
mission’s powers to ensure that it would have the ability 
to inquire into any matter, to examine documents, to 
question people and to compel co-operation with its in-
quiries. Amendments are being proposed and are before 
you to clarify that the commission would have the right 
to intervene in any application before the tribunal. And 
amendments would adjust the transitional provisions to 
allow existing complaints to continue to be dealt with 
through the existing system. 

Lastly, amendments are being proposed to promote 
greater fairness at the Human Rights Tribunal of Ontario. 
We are entrenching the requirement that the rules of 
practice of the tribunal and the procedures facilitate fair, 
just and expeditious resolutions on the merits of the 
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matters before it. Amendments are before you to ensure 
that all applications to the tribunal are timely, within 
jurisdiction and would not be finally disposed of without 
the parties having an opportunity to make oral sub-
missions. Amendments are before you and proposed that 
would restrict the tribunal’s powers to dismiss appli-
cations without a hearing, eliminate the tribunal’s ability 
to establish and charge fees, extend the limitation period 
for filing a claim from six months to one year and, lastly, 
ensure that the adjudicators at the tribunal have expertise 
in human rights. 

I’ll say, in closing, a couple of things. Firstly, these are 
not the only amendments under consideration by the 
government. We want to hear from the committee, from 
the people, and from members of the provincial Parlia-
ment in this committee and outside of this committee. 

Before you is a fairly long list of procedural and 
process enhancements to Bill 107. I offer the following 
perspective on the human rights system. Fifty years ago, 
if you had a human rights complaint, you were basically 
on your own. There was no legal assistance being offer-
ed. There was relatively little expertise on the superior 
court, on the bench. In most cases, it meant no justice, 
because you had to retain your own lawyer at your 
expense and you’d argue a tort, a common law claim, 
before the courts. So 44 years ago a system was 
established, and the Human Rights Commission was to 
do two things. Firstly, it was to promote human rights, to 
proactively go forth and prevent human rights complaints 
from happening. Secondly, the commission was there as 
a place of expertise that would provide support to people 
and would resolve their complaints. 
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What happened over the last 40-plus years, particu-
larly in the absence of statutory amendments, is that 
procedures and process built up. There was no Human 
Rights Tribunal originally. It was not a highly adju-
dicative model, and in the 1970s, I’m told by commission 
counsel, it worked fairly well. But over the years, the 
adjudicative processes and procedures built up to the 
point where today, I would argue, we have procedural 
and process gridlock, and that results in delays. We say 
that justice delayed is justice denied so many times that 
sometimes we forget what it means. In this case, what it 
means is that the person who comes to the human rights 
system with a human rights complaint, an injustice, 
doesn’t get that injustice rectified after a year, after two 
years, after three years—or more. And what that means is 
that after that year or two years or three years or more, 
they don’t have the injustice rectified. For them, the 
delay does mean no justice at all. 

So the goal here is to provide direct access. We’ve put 
into place some procedures and processes that we’ve 
heard from people are necessary for them to have 
confidence in the system. We are seeking to empower the 
commission to do that prevention work that the com-
mission has not really been able to do at full capacity. 
And lastly, the new generation of human rights dis-
crimination, in the form of systemic discrimination, is in 

fact now going to be tackled by the commission, in the 
event that this bill passes, with a vigour that will allow 
the commission to bring systemic claims before the 
tribunal and intervene in the tribunal on claims that the 
commission views amount to systemic claims. 

The due process that we are going to talk about in the 
coming days I think we ought to consider for just a 
second, and then, I can see, my time will be up. Due 
process in the criminal law system is there to protect the 
innocent and is there to ensure that all parts of the system 
operate fairly. There is a real focus on the accused when 
it comes to procedural rights. I don’t know of any human 
rights voices that have come to me to talk about concerns 
around due process for respondents, the people who are 
the subject of a human rights complaint. Due process for 
the complainants, the victims of human rights, I think 
needs to be process that ensures speedy and effective 
remedies of human rights injustices. And at some point 
over the last 44 years, I will say with respect, some 
people have become so attached to the procedures and 
process that is the work of our human rights system that I 
believe that they are clinging to a due process as an end 
in and of itself when I would say to you that due process 
here is a means to an end: a speedy and effective 
resolution of the complaint. 

I’m not sure that the victim of human rights is nearly 
as concerned about a big pile of process and procedures 
that leads to delays, and I would have thought that the 
victim of a human rights violation would be a lot more 
interested in a big pile of justice and remedies, and that’s 
what we’re seeking to bring forth with these amendments 
and this bill. It is human rights, after all; it is not about 
process or procedural rights. The system’s about human 
rights. 

I believe, and I’m getting that look from the Chair, 
that my time is up. I do not want to delay the people who 
have come here to present before the committee. Some of 
them have called for amendments that are now before 
you, and I know that you want to hear from them, as does 
the government. So I will cede my chair and leave it in 
your hands as to what happens next, but I presume that 
our first witness is coming on up. 

The Chair: Thank you, Minister. 

LEAGUE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS 
OF B’NAI BRITH CANADA 

The Chair: The first presentation is from B’nai Brith 
Canada: Ms. Anita Bromberg and Toni Silberman. Good 
morning. 

Ms. Toni Silberman: Good morning. 
The Chair: You may begin. You have 30 minutes. 
Ms. Silberman: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Before we 

begin our allotted time to speak, we would appreciate a 
moment to comment on what just transpired. We really 
must object in the most strenuous terms to the actions of 
the Attorney General in announcing amendments to Bill 
107 at this time. We, like so many other— 

The Chair: Can I get your names for the record? 
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Ms. Silberman: Sure. I’m Toni Silberman. 
Ms. Anita Bromberg: I’m Anita Bromberg. 
The Chair: Thank you. You may continue. 
Ms. Silberman: Thank you. We, like so many other 

community organizations, have invested considerable 
volunteer efforts in preparing our presentation and came 
here to address the text of the bill that has been on the 
table for some seven months. As of moments ago, that 
bill was effectively rewritten, and we, as the first pres-
enters, are now placed in a very difficult and unfair 
position. As you can appreciate, we have absolutely no 
opportunity to consider the amendments, nor to develop 
comments on their content or even to assess the validity 
of the merits. 

With respect, this is public hearing by ambush, and in 
a court of law this would constitute grounds for an 
adjournment with costs against the Attorney General. 
This is an especially cruel irony, since one of our many 
objections to Bill 107 is that the Attorney General pro-
poses to strip away the important fair hearings re-
quirements for the tribunal that are now imposed on it by 
the Statutory Powers Procedure Act. And if one needs a 
good illustration of why those procedural protections 
should not be tampered with, this is it. 

We will proceed with the presentation we prepared 
prior to this morning’s announcement. We cannot 
address any of the measures the Attorney General has 
just announced, as those who come after us will be able 
to. So in the interests of fairness, Mr. Chair, we respect-
fully request that we be given the opportunity to return to 
this committee in the near future to make an oral sub-
mission on the Attorney General’s new version of Bill 
107. 

We do appreciate this opportunity to share with the 
members of the standing committee our concerns and 
recommendations regarding Bill 107 and hope they will 
assist you in your deliberations. 

My name is Toni Silberman and I am the immediate 
past chair of the League for Human Rights of B’nai Brith 
Canada. Human rights advocacy has been my avocation 
and ultimately my vocation for over 40 years, including 
16 years as a member of management with the Ontario 
Human Rights Commission. My colleague Anita Brom-
berg is the league’s counsel and has been extensively 
involved in human rights issues and advocacy for 
decades. 

Established in Canada in 1875, B’nai Brith is Can-
adian Jewry’s oldest and only independent advocacy and 
community service organization, which some consider to 
be Canada’s foremost human rights agency, specializing 
in and dedicated to combating anti-Semitism, racism, 
bigotry and hate in all its forms. We have enjoyed a long 
and fruitful association with the commission over the 
years, both as a partner and as a consumer. 

The League for Human Rights endorses efforts 
designed to strengthen the Ontario Human Rights Com-
mission and the protection of human rights in this prov-
ince. We support the strengthening of the commission’s 
ability and mandate to address systemic issues, pro-

actively and through complaints, as we do the reintro-
duction of both a race relations and disability rights 
secretariat as part of the commission’s mandate. In fact, 
no new law is required for the former, since provisions 
for its existence still are found— 
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The Chair: Ms. Silberman, can I ask you to just slow 
down for the sign language interpreters, please? 

Ms. Silberman: I’m sorry. 
We are pleased that their benefit is once again being 

recognized, but query their effectiveness if the com-
mission is to be divested of the attendant enforcement 
mechanisms. 

But today, we join our voice with the large number of 
groups, organizations and individuals, some of whom 
you have already heard during the summer hearings, who 
oppose Bill 107 as seriously weakening human rights 
protection in Ontario. Our concerns are with regard to 
both process and substance. 

With regard to process, we believe it was regrettable 
and counterproductive to reject the many calls from 
advocacy groups and concerned individuals for open 
public consultations prior to drafting a new bill on human 
rights reforms. Members of groups protected under the 
Human Rights Code, complainants and respondents 
within the current human rights system, and human rights 
staff were excluded. The resulting one-sided bill is 
reflective of this lack of representation. 

There is no question that the commission’s complaints 
process is in need of review and resources in order to 
operate more efficiently, and who better to inform that 
review than those who require and use the system—not 
just lawyers, but the clients and those who operate the 
system. It is our hope that the Premier’s and the Attorney 
General’s public commitment to ensuring broad con-
sultations during the hearings will give, to all those who 
wish, adequate opportunity to express their views on the 
proposed legislation. 

With regard to substance, the Attorney General asserts 
that the human rights system has not changed in more 
than 40 years. We remind the members that in 1982, 
under the Davis Conservative government, the code was 
completely revoked and rewritten, and the commission 
overhauled. This happened again in 1986. In fact, the 
commission has, over the last 40 years, reviewed and 
restructured its complaints process and infrastructure on 
an ongoing basis to more adequately address changing 
needs of an increasingly diverse society. Grounds of 
protection were added and public education was en-
hanced, leading to a tremendous increase in the number 
of cases coming forward. Unfortunately, the requisite 
resources to support this increased demand for services 
were not given, and a backlog was created. The com-
mission became, in effect, a victim of its own success. 

However, for the government to now propose eviscer-
ating the commission, whose work formed the template 
for all subsequent provincial, federal and international 
human rights commissions, and replace it with a system 
whose track record elsewhere is less than stellar, to 
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decimate an established system before it is given the 
opportunity and resources necessary to allow it to do its 
work, is, we believe, short-sighted and dangerous to the 
protection of human rights in Ontario and will result in 
the denial of the very equality and access to justice that it 
purports to advance for the very people it purports to 
help. 

Bill 107 proposes a system of direct access that was 
almost universally vilified as being ineffective, ineffic-
ient and costly in the 1980s, when it was first attempted 
in British Columbia, and again when it was reintroduced 
more recently. In fact, this spring a member of BC’s 
Legislative Assembly introduced a bill calling for re-
instatement of the old system, pointing out, in particular, 
that systemic instances of discrimination have gone 
unaddressed, that the public interest is no longer rep-
resented and that the entire human rights system in BC 
has been weakened. These and other concerns with direct 
access also compelled the former chief commissioner of 
BC’s Human Rights Commission to come to Toronto to 
speak out against its implementation here. 

We find the proposed legislation so seriously flawed 
in its efforts to create a fair, expeditious system intended 
to generate effective remedies that we would suggest 
removing it from consideration and starting again, once 
all interested parties have had the opportunity for input—
a more fitting time, perhaps, to announce amendments. 

We will now outline some of our concerns in sum-
mary form and urge you to read our submission in its 
entirety. For a summary of our summary, we refer you to 
the myths and reality documents inside the folder. 

Bill 107 is fundamentally flawed in that it virtually 
guarantees that human rights protection and the oppor-
tunity for prevention will be eroded. As Ontario’s public 
human rights enforcement body, the commission is 
charged with the responsibility of forwarding as public 
policy the provision of equal rights and opportunities 
without discrimination and the creation of a climate of 
understanding and mutual respect for the dignity and 
worth of Ontarians. When one removes that public body 
from its core function, the ability to affect that public 
climate is lost, as is the potential for remedies that not 
only address discrimination but also ensure that the 
requisite system-wide programs and policies of preven-
tion are in place. To attempt to bifurcate the individual 
from the systemic issues is misguided and self-defeating. 
Disabled, racial, religious and historically disadvantaged 
people recognize through experience the necessity of 
public interest remedies in virtually all cases affecting 
them and that they should be an integral part of, not 
eliminated from, human rights reform. Bill 107 does not 
recognize that necessity. 

You may hear from the proponents of the bill that 
direct access is a panacea. We believe that Bill 107’s 
promise of direct access is illusory. It does not mean that 
every person will have his or her day in court. It means, 
rather, that the complainant may apply to the tribunal 
directly. It does not mean greater access to an oral 
hearing into the merits of the case or, indeed, greater 

access to a hearing at all. It simply means the com-
plainant will have the right to file a paper application 
directly with the tribunal that has unfettered discretion to 
make its own rules, more powers to gate-keep and 
dismiss a complaint without either an investigation or a 
hearing than the commission currently does, no mech-
anism to enforce orders and settlements from which no 
appeal may be made, no means to adequately address the 
public interest, and no oversight. 

You may hear that the bill will strengthen the Ontario 
Human Rights Commission. On the contrary, we believe 
that it eviscerates the commission and renders it a 
toothless tiger. The removal of the commission’s total 
investigative, mediation and litigation functions give it 
no effective means of promoting systemic change pre-
cisely because it is left with no viable role with respect to 
individual complaints. At the same time, Bill 107 will 
make the complaints process more onerous and, in some 
cases, impossible for both complainants and respondents 
by requiring them perhaps to conduct their own investi-
gations and gather evidence within an environment that is 
already poisoned by the very filing of a complaint. 

Under the current system, an investigation takes place 
prior to the referral of a complaint to the tribunal. The 
investigation has several functions: First, it permits 
settlement discussions to take place in the context of the 
commission’s investigation findings as to the facts and 
legal implications of a particular complaint; secondly, it 
provides an informed basis for a decision as to whether a 
case should be referred to the tribunal; and at the hearing 
itself, it gives the commission evidence to present before 
the tribunal and provides a further impetus to settle when 
the tribunal’s processes begin. 

Under the bill, no such investigation might occur. 
Complainants will not have the statutory authority to 
force the production of documents and will certainly not, 
for example, be permitted access to an employer’s 
premises to interview witnesses. It will be up to the 
tribunal to interrupt its process, having somehow 
determined what evidence it needs, with directions to the 
parties to supply what evidence they can muster before 
the proceedings can continue. In the case of respondents, 
there will be no means of avoiding the tribunal’s pro-
cedures, even in the case of the most frivolous com-
plaints. In the case of both, the opportunity to resolve 
complaints without litigation at the tribunal, currently 
provided by the disclosure of the commission’s investi-
gative findings, will vanish. The tribunal will either have 
to form a conclusion based on its impression of the 
parties, or determine what evidence is required for the 
hearing to proceed. It seems somewhat irrational, in-
efficient, counterproductive and gratuitously costly to 
have a complaint come to the tribunal and then have the 
investigations occur, as proposed in Bill 107. 

The proposed reform is based on the position that 
investigations into human rights complaints are useless; 
indeed, that they are themselves a barrier to human rights 
protection. What the government has forgotten is that 
Human Rights Codes are the accessible Charter of Rights 
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for ordinary people. The public investigators mediate, 
conciliate, negotiate and resolve cases for the parties at a 
fraction of the cost of expensive lawyers and adjudicators 
and usually in a fraction of the time. More importantly, 
the investigators are trained to address the future. When 
resolving a case, they get employers to conduct staff 
training, and create anti-discrimination and harassment 
policies and internal systems, so that the offending con-
duct does not happen again. In particular, mediation and 
investigation functions are necessary to fully address 
racial complaints because of the socio-political historic 
factors involved. Throwing money at a privatized system 
to pay for some form of legal assistance for complainants 
will not produce these results. 
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In his address to the Legislature when the bill was 
introduced, the Attorney General said that the com-
mission would have the right to intervene in individual 
cases under Bill 107. The bill, up to this point, provides 
no such right, thus losing the potential for significant 
changes in, and development of, human rights legislation 
in jurisprudence. For the commission to have any mean-
ingful power to intervene and determine which cases 
merit intervention, it would require notice of cases 
proceeding at the tribunal. No such mechanism exists in 
the bill. 

With regard to systemic investigation, the argument 
that a commission freed from responsibility for individ-
ual cases will better address systemic issues is seriously 
flawed. 

First, by giving the commission no role with respect to 
the processing, investigation, mediation or prosecution of 
human rights complaints, and by reducing the dispute to 
a contest between two private parties, Bill 107 will both 
undermine individual rights and make it impossible for 
the commission to fulfill its public role. 

The complainant’s primary goal, and that of his or her 
lawyer, is often to obtain money and move on. The 
respondent’s primary goal is to pay as little money as 
possible to bring the dispute to an end. Neither has much 
motivation to change the conditions that led to the 
complaint in the first place and thus root out and prevent 
future acts of discrimination. The Human Rights Com-
mission currently seeks all of this when it processes and 
ultimately prosecutes a human rights complaint. 

Second, it is primarily the commission’s investigation 
and compliance function—its involvement in all aspects 
of individual cases—that highlights areas and trends— 

The Chair: Ms. Silberman, could I just ask you to 
slow down, please. I know it’s difficult, but please do 
your best. 

Ms. Silberman: I’m so sorry. I’m conscious of the 
time. 

The Chair: Thank you. 
Ms. Silberman: —that highlights areas and trends 

that require systemic measures and policy directions. 
Otherwise, such efforts will be informed by anecdotal in-
formation and hearsay, rather than by facts and statistics. 

Individual cases inform systemic work. Systemic work 
has a point of entry through individual cases. Individual 
complaints provide the raw material for systemic inter-
ventions. 

Bill 107 contains, so far, no requirement for public 
interest settlements or remedies. The tribunal is not re-
quired to impose them; the legal support centre, if and 
when it is created, is not required to seek them; and the 
parties certainly cannot be expected to sacrifice their own 
self-interest for the public good. By removing the public 
prosecutor from the mix, the public protection is also 
removed. 

Third, it is not the case that there is always a clear 
distinction between individual cases and systemic cases. 
Human rights complaints do not walk through the door 
with the word “systemic” labelled on the front—would 
that they did—yet experience shows that most cases have 
some systemic component to them. 

The case of Michael McKinnon, the aboriginal prison 
guard whose long battle with the provincial ministry of 
corrections was recently chronicled in the Globe and 
Mail, illustrates this point. Under Bill 107, this would 
have been just another individual case of racial name-
calling in an isolated workplace. Because the case was 
investigated and prosecuted by the commission, the deep-
rooted and horrific racism that has been allowed to fester 
in provincial jails amongst prison guards has been re-
vealed and the most far-reaching public interest remedies 
have been imposed. 

You may also hear that Bill 107 gives the commission 
permission to apply to the tribunal to seek orders related 
to cases of a systemic nature. The commission, thus far, 
will be allowed only to seek orders. Such a provision is 
mere window dressing, however, absent the resources, 
authority and staff necessary to investigate complaints; 
the ability to retain expert witnesses; and the loss of the 
commission’s highly regarded legal team that currently 
withstands the attacks from corporate and government 
counsel. Further, the preconditions for seeking such an 
order are onerous, and the granting of the right to pursue 
a systemic complaint is solely at the discretion of the 
tribunal. It does not specify whether the commission will 
have carriage of such complaints. In addition, with re-
spect to systemic cases, should an order be granted, the 
legislation allows only for orders dealing with future 
practices. There is no compensation or any sort of 
restitution for the current infringement for the individual 
on whose behalf the commission would seek the remedy. 

You may hear that Bill 107 will remove the so-called 
gatekeeping function which, it is alleged, creates an 
inefficient and protracted complaints process. Bill 107, in 
reality, merely provides for a change of gatekeeping 
venue. Section 34 of the bill allows the tribunal to make 
rules which may excuse it from the requirement to hold a 
hearing and which will permit it to restrict the 
opportunity of the parties to present their evidence and 
make their submissions. The bill does not set out the 
circumstances under which such rights could be curtailed 
by the tribunal’s rules, lending the lie to the promise that 
every person will have his or her day in court. 
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You may hear that the efficiency of the direct-access 
model will result in fewer delays and no backlog. Cur-
rently, the publicly funded commission handles 65,000 
inquiries per year, resulting in an average of 2,500 
formal, signed complaints. Of those, close to 75% are 
settled to the satisfaction of both parties, thus obviating 
the need for a referral to the tribunal. These settlements 
are achieved through a publicly funded process, without 
the need to hire and pay for lawyers. Of the remainder, 
between 100 and 150 are sent to the tribunal for 
determination. Of those, the tribunal renders relatively 
few decisions on the merits each year, thus generating a 
considerable backlog. 

If there is a considerable caseload at the com-
mission—an agency replete with experienced officers 
operating within a system with which the public has 
familiarity for 44 years—query how the tribunal, with its 
own backlog, operating under a new system conducted 
by unfamiliar staff and navigated by members of the 
general public without assistance, could handle the sheer 
number of inquiries and complaints without creating an 
even greater backlog of complaints. 

Gatekeeping under direct access will take place not 
only at the tribunal but also in the process of determining 
whether an application will be brought at all. No amount 
of funding that this or any government in the foreseeable 
future can realistically be expected to provide will afford 
legal counsel for 65,000 potential complainants. That the 
commission has only 2,500 rather than 65,000 formal 
complaints can be attributed in part to the fact that 
commission intake staff provide advice to the public and 
direct individuals to other agencies where appropriate. 
Without such intake staff, the number of individuals 
wishing to file complaints will be much in excess of 
2,500. Those who are obliged to hire counsel on their 
own will self-screen, based on their ability to pay. 

With respect to education, you may hear that Bill 107 
gives the commission the authority to research, inquire 
into, recommend and educate in order to eliminate 
discrimination. We wholly support the espoused desire to 
strengthen the commission’s mandate in this area. How-
ever, decades of experience have proven that without the 
ability to invoke the full force of the law, without 
effective enforcement mechanisms to add weight to the 
principles, goodwill and moral suasion only go so far and 
may not achieve the desired results. 

With regard to fairness, we believe that the bill gives 
far too much power and discretion to the tribunal. At the 
same time, it reduces rather than increases measures for 
the tribunal’s oversight and accountability. It does so in 
several problematic ways. Under Bill 107, the tribunal 
will be given complete and unfettered authority over the 
complaints process, with unlimited authority to develop 
its own rules and regulations outside the public arena, 
and will have primacy over the Statutory Powers Pro-
cedure Act, thus negating any minimal procedural pro-
tections afforded by the SPPA, calling into question the 
provision of natural justice and fairness. 

Moreover, Bill 107 dramatically reduces the extent to 
which the courts can hold the tribunal accountable. It 

strips away the current right to appeal to the courts from 
decisions of the tribunal. Dissatisfied parties at a tribunal 
hearing will only be able to apply for a review if they 
demonstrate that the tribunal decision was patently 
unreasonable, a far higher threshold than on appeal. Bill 
107 thus imposes a toxic mix of potentially unfair rules 
of procedure at the tribunal with less judicial oversight. 

Under Bill 107, no agency is charged with enforcing 
settlements and orders, in contrast to current practice 
where, if either are breached, the commission takes all 
steps necessary to enforce the terms of the settlement or 
order, such as the garnishing of wages. Surely, one 
cannot expect a successful complainant to track down 
any monetary compensation owing or demand the en-
forcement of an order from an employer. At the end of 
the day, a remedy ordered by the tribunal is of no value if 
the order is not complied with. 
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One of the positive aspects of the present system is the 
autonomy under which both operate and the separation of 
the commission’s role as investigator and prosecutor on 
the one hand and the tribunal as neutral judge on the 
other. The tribunal is currently viewed as a distinct court 
of next resort, separate from the commission process. To 
now render the tribunal the court of only resort, from 
which there is no appeal mechanism, would not only 
create a conflict of roles within the tribunal system as 
police, judge and jury, but would also cast aspersion on 
the neutrality and objectivity of the process. 

We are also concerned about the perceived conflict of 
interest and potential for bias in having both the tribunal 
and commission function under the auspices of the 
Ministry of the Attorney General, whose lawyers defend 
government respondents in human rights cases. It is 
interesting to note that more human rights complaints are 
filed against the government than against any other 
respondent. More fundamental is the inherent unfairness 
of requiring complainants to consider hiring their own 
lawyers, while government respondents will have the 
benefit of paid career government counsel. 

We are especially troubled that even as we speak, in 
fact even prior to the onset of these hearings and even 
before this Legislature decides whether or not to grant 
these new powers to the tribunal by passing or rejecting 
Bill 107, the tribunal is, according to its own website, 
already at work planning for and hiring towards its 
implementation. We are concerned that this action makes 
a mockery of these hearings. 

The need to secure legal representation and advice—
currently a statutory right—will put an onerous burden 
on the majority of complainants, who are already vic-
timized by alleged discrimination. We are not sure how 
the funding will operate, but the offer, for example, of 
some form of legal aid would benefit only those who fall 
within a certain income category. We fear as well that 
legal aid, an already overtaxed system, will not be in a 
position to adequately fund such a program, nor are many 
community legal aid clinics in a position to have carriage 
of these complaints. We are concerned that this will 
create an ethos of justice by means test, whereby justice 
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will be beyond reach of the average person, rather than 
more accessible. 

In the event that the complaint procedure were priva-
tized and that every individual does receive contracted 
legal representation, query the cost, particularly when the 
Attorney General last week fundamentally rejected calls 
for more funding for the human rights system. The 
Attorney General was quoted as saying in response to the 
recommendation by representatives of disability and 
racialized communities for additional resources for the 
commission, “If you’ve got a broken engine, you don’t 
fix it by putting more gasoline in it. First you need to fix 
the engine and then you need to make sure it has enough 
gas.” We agree with the sentiment, but believe that the 
Attorney General, to extend the analogy, rather than 
fixing the engine, is throwing it out and replacing it with 
a model that is not even on the Consumer Reports list of 
recommended engines. 

Laughter. 
Mr. Kormos: Excuse me. Can Hansard please report 

that there was much laughter in response to the last 
comment, including by myself. 

Ms. Silberman: We in Ontario live in a democracy 
where injustice and discrimination are condemned by 
political philosophy and punishable by law. We believe 
that these hearings provide a golden opportunity for On-
tario to once again stand in the forefront of progressive, 
dynamic human rights advancement, which will nurture 
its reputation as a province dedicated to the enhancement 
and equality of all its citizens. We agree that changes to 
the existing human rights system are a prerequisite to 
achieving the goal of ensuring equality and fairness. We, 
however, believe that Bill 107 is not the solution. We 
have a number of recommendations, but will only high-
light a few. 

We recommend that the current infrastructures be 
maintained and that the code and related procedures be 
amended to ensure that the complaints process operates 
more effectively and efficiently. This, in our view, means 
improving, not slashing, the public enforcement system 
through the Human Rights Commission. 

The Vice-Chair (Mrs. Maria Van Bommel): Ms. 
Silberman, you have one minute left. 

Ms. Silberman: Thank you. Unless the system is ade-
quately funded, no reform will work. Rather than infus-
ing a new system which may prove far more costly with 
additional funding, we recommend an administrative 
audit of the commission and an increase in its funding in 
the appropriate areas to allow for greater effectiveness. 
We recommend a complaints process wherein the best 
practices of the commission and the tribunal could be 
maximized, a process whereby complainants could either 
elect the commission route or the tribunal’s direct access 
at relevant mileposts along the complaints continuum. If 
this option is considered, however, it is critical that direct 
access not be initiated until and unless the public 
enforcement process through the Human Rights 
Commission is improved and properly funded. 

Honourable members, as you have heard and will no 
doubt continue to hear, considerable promises have been 

made with regard to human rights reform. Human rights 
are about fairness, justice and equality for all individuals 
and groups. The commission is, in many instances, their 
only voice. Bill 107 potentially silences that voice, 
leaving us with a legal system but certainly not a system 
of justice. 

Thank you for your time and your attention. 
The Vice-Chair: Thank you very much for your 

presentation. Mr. Kormos? 
Mr. Kormos: There are people in the room who are 

standing. Some of them are going to be here all day. I’m 
no expert at these sorts of things—as you know, I’m only 
from small-town Ontario—but it seems that if a row of 
chairs were put at least in the front here, we could ac-
commodate four people who deserve to be accommo-
dated, unless we’re breaking some fire code or Liquor 
Licence Act regulation. 

The other observation is that in terms of signers, if 
signers were to stand here, would it be helpful to pres-
enters in terms of allowing presenters to gauge their 
speed? I’d be prepared to move over here—no qualms 
about sitting close to Ms. Elliott—so that it wouldn’t 
interfere with my sightlines, unless that’s problematic 
with the signers. 

Interjection. 
Mr. Kormos: Okay, the signers want to stay there. 
The Vice-Chair: I would ask, then, that the signers 

make that decision. I have no objection as Chair, so the 
signers would be— 

Mr. Kormos: Fair enough. Can we get some chairs 
put in here? 

The Vice-Chair: In terms of the chairs— 
Mr. Kormos: The final thing, Chair, on a point of 

order. 
The Vice-Chair: Yes, Mr. Kormos? 
Mr. Kormos: This is very important stuff. People 

here are deadly serious, people both advocating for the 
legislation and critical of it. It seems to me that the gov-
ernment ought to have all of its seats at this committee 
table full. It is irresponsible and an insult to these people, 
both advocates for the legislation and critics of it, for the 
government to have empty seats in this committee on the 
very first morning of its proceedings. 

The Vice-Chair: I’m sorry, Mr. Kormos. That’s not a 
point of order. 

Mr. Kormos: Well, it should be. 
The Vice-Chair: I’m sure you feel that way, Mr. 

Kormos. In terms of the chairs, we are right now trying to 
find an overflow room. I would anticipate there may be 
even greater numbers coming in, so we’re trying to 
accommodate everyone. 

Mr. Kormos: But it’s not just overflow. There are 
people here who are support workers, for instance, who 
have to be in this room and who have to be accom-
modated. 

The Vice-Chair: I absolutely agree. They need to be 
able to sit down. It’s going to be a long day, no question 
about it. We’re trying to work on it. 

Thank you very much for your presentation. 
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ASSOCIATION OF 
HUMAN RIGHTS LAWYERS 

The Vice-Chair: I now want to call forward the Asso-
ciation of Human Rights Lawyers, Mark Hart. Welcome, 
Mr. Hart. You have 30 minutes in which to make your 
presentation. If you don’t use up the entire 30 minutes, 
that gives members of the committee an opportunity to 
ask questions or make comments on your presentation. 
That would be done in rotation. So if you would please 
start by stating your name and your association, please. 

Mr. Mark Hart: My name is Mark Hart. I’m here 
with Yola Grant and we’re here on behalf of the Asso-
ciation of Human Rights Lawyers. Before I start, I want 
to thank Toni Silberman for the presentation she just 
made. I knew Toni Silberman when she was the public 
relations person at the Ontario Human Rights Commis-
sion. It’s good to see that she’s still performing that role. 
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I’m a lawyer who has specialized in the area of human 
rights for the past 17 years, and particularly specialized 
in representing claimants in the current human rights 
system. I formerly worked as counsel at the Ontario 
Human Rights Commission, and I’m a founding member 
of the Association of Human Rights Lawyers. 

The association itself is comprised of lawyers and 
community legal support workers who work on the front 
lines of the current human rights system. Our clients are 
members of racialized groups, persons with disabilities, 
women, members of our First Nations, members of the 
lesbian, gay and transgendered communities, and other 
clients who are poor, vulnerable and victimized. We 
struggle to assist our clients to make their way through a 
Byzantine, disempowering and disenfranchising human 
rights process which is fraught with horrendous delays. 

The current state of affairs is completely unacceptable, 
and is notorious to anyone who actually works on the 
front lines of the current system, as we in the association 
do. This horrendous situation has not gone unnoticed. In 
1992, a report was released by a blue-ribbon task force 
headed by Mary Cornish, who’s in the front row today. 
She’s one of the most prominent human rights lawyers in 
this province. The task force also included leading human 
rights advocates from racialized groups, the disability 
community, the lesbian and gay community and the First 
Nations community. This task force crossed the province 
and heard from everyone who wanted to speak. Giving 
careful and deliberate consideration to all they heard, this 
task force recommended that the existing human rights 
process be substantially reformed and replaced with a 
system where human rights claimants have direct access 
to a hearing at the tribunal, with publicly supported legal 
representation available to them, which is precisely the 
model we see before us in Bill 107. 

In the year 2000, another blue-ribbon task force, this 
time headed by Justice La Forest, formerly of the 
Supreme Court of Canada, released a report to reform the 
federal human rights system, which is the same as the 
one in Ontario. This task force crossed the entire country 

and again heard from everyone who wanted to speak on 
the issue and came to the same conclusions as the 
Cornish task force. 

The plight of human rights claimants in this province 
has not gone unnoticed by the international community 
as well, which in 1998 condemned Canada and this 
province for its backward and paternalistic human rights 
system and urged Canada and this province to guarantee 
that human rights claimants have access to a hearing. 
Through all these years, the association and the many 
vulnerable clients we represent have watched and waited 
as governments came and went and still no action was 
taken on human rights reform. Now, finally and at long 
last, Bill 107 provides us with a golden opportunity to 
achieve what so many have been studying, recommend-
ing and advocating for so many years. 

What are the problems with the current system and 
how does Bill 107 address them? The problems with the 
current system are legion, and in the interests of time, I’ll 
address only a key few. 

First, the problem of the commission currently having 
a veto over whether or not a claimant gets to have a hear-
ing into their human rights: What happens in the current 
process is that behind closed doors, a bunch of people 
whom the claimant has never met will sit in a room 
together for a day and they’ll review a big pile of docu-
ments relating to some 30 to 40 cases at a time and issue 
their edict as to which cases get tossed out and which 
cases go to a hearing. The statistics show that the com-
mission vetoes three out of every four cases that come 
before it—these faceless people behind closed doors—
and then they issue a decision that is usually less than a 
page long and has three or four bullet points with in-
scrutable reasoning. If anyone thinks that this current 
system is still working, I would ask that you take a 
moment to sit with one of our clients and hear about the 
devastation they felt when, after they’ve pursued their 
complaint through the commission’s process for so many 
years, they get tossed out with this little slip of paper 
with this inscrutable reasoning. 

Bill 107 will fix this by getting rid of the commission 
veto over whether or not claimants are entitled to a 
hearing and ensuring that all claims get filed with the 
tribunal and have access to a hearing where the claimant 
will actually get to interact with the decision-maker, 
participate in the process and understand why their case 
wins or loses. 

The next significant problem in the commission is the 
inordinate and inexcusable delay. You’ve heard about 
this from your constituents many, many times, that the 
delays are horrendous at the commission, and I’m sure 
there are a lot of statistics thrown around that you may 
have heard, and may yet hear, at this committee hearing. 
The significant one for our clients is that when a case 
goes to investigation, the average time it takes for the 
commission to deal with the case is three years. I’ve 
represented clients where the cases have taken six, eight, 
or even 10 or more years to go through this unbelievably 
long investigation process. This is an unacceptable state 
of affairs. 
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Then, if you make it through that, there is the in-
credible waste and duplication. What happens if you’re 
one of the precious and lucky few who actually get to a 
tribunal hearing is that you have to start all over again 
from square one. All of the same witnesses who were 
interviewed in the investigation have to be called to give 
evidence again before the tribunal, all of the same docu-
ments that were produced in the investigation have to be 
tendered again before the tribunal, and all the legal 
arguments and submissions have to be dusted off again 
and re-presented at the tribunal, only this time the tri-
bunal hearing is taking place some four or more years 
after the events at issue. Once again, Bill 107 will fix this 
problem by eliminating the wasteful and duplicative step 
of going through the commission process and allowing 
complainants to proceed directly to the tribunal. 

The final problem I want to address is that in the cur-
rent system, the commission has conflicting roles. Right 
now, the existing commission is burdened with the role 
of processing all of these individual cases and, during the 
course of doing that, maintaining its neutrality in making 
decisions about which cases go forward and which ones 
get tossed out. At the same time, the commission needs 
to be an advocate to pursue initiatives to address systemic 
discrimination in the province, including initiating com-
plaints and prosecuting cases at the tribunal. These 
conflicting roles of neutrality versus advocacy are simply 
untenable. In addition, what routinely happens at the 
commission is that its resources get consumed by the 
backlog of cases, leaving precious little left to pursue 
systemic initiatives. Bill 107 will fix this problem by 
separating these conflicting roles. Rather than having two 
public agencies—the commission and the tribunal—
processing individual cases and acting as a neutral deci-
sion maker, Bill 107 will clearly place this responsibility 
in the hands of one public agency, the tribunal. This will 
free up the commission to focus resolutely on its role as 
an advocate for the furtherance of human rights in this 
province. 

In the previous submission you heard reference made 
to what’s going on in British Columbia. The fundamental 
difference between what’s happening in British Colum-
bia versus what is being proposed in Bill 107 is that the 
government eliminated the commission in BC, whereas 
what Bill 107 does is free up the commission from being 
burdened by the individual complaint process and allows 
the commission to be a strong advocate for human rights 
and pursue systemic initiatives. 

The association recognizes that Bill 107 is not perfect, 
and my colleague will be speaking to some of the key 
amendments we seek to this important and vital legis-
lation. But we are here to say to this committee today that 
the fundamental structure of Bill 107 is sound, it is in 
keeping with the recommendations of the reports which 
have studied these issues, and it is consistent with our 
international obligations. 

We are aware that there are some who disagree, some 
who have been our colleagues in the human rights com-
munity over the years. We have seen the so-called blue-
print for reform which is being promulgated by David 

Lepofsky and two other dissenters. No doubt you will 
hear about this blueprint in submissions to come. I like to 
call this blueprint two steps backward, because it does 
nothing to address the fundamental structural problems in 
the current system and promises only more of the same. 
Throwing more money at a broken system will not work. 
It has been tried with the commission many times before; 
the money just gets gobbled up and the delays and back-
log of cases keep growing. 

At these hearings, I’m sure you have heard and will 
continue to hear a lot of strongly expressed rhetoric on 
both sides of this issue, and it may seem to you that we 
are talking about two completely different pieces of 
legislation. In order to find your way through this debate, 
what I urge you to do is go to the experts who have 
studied this issue and who have consulted with people 
across this province and across this country, including 
hearing and considering the submissions of the very 
authors of the blueprint for reform and all the others who 
will be speaking before you in these hearings. Read the 
Cornish report, read the La Forest report, and see how 
Bill 107 embodies the recommendations and will repair 
and reinvigorate the human rights system in this province 
and make it a beacon for other jurisdictions struggling 
with the same problems. 
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I wish to make one more point before ceding the floor 
to my colleague. There are some who have been reported 
in the paper as keeping a kind of score card of the people 
who appear before this committee, counting up how 
many have spoken in favour and how many have spoken 
against. I urge this committee to see this as a very sim-
plistic form of arithmetic that does not accurately gauge 
the widespread support for Bill 107. 

As you are listening to the various presenters before 
this committee, I encourage you to ask yourself three 
questions: 

First, ask yourself, is this presenter speaking as a 
representative for some larger body, or is the presenter 
speaking solely for herself or himself or on behalf of a 
group whose views have already been heard? 

The second question: Does this presenter or any group 
he or she represents have actual front-line experience 
with the human rights system and demonstrate this 
knowledge, experience and expertise in their submis-
sions, or does she or he, while perhaps being a member 
of a community protected by the Human Rights Code, 
not have this kind of important front-line experience with 
the current system? 

Number three: Is the presenter merely parroting views 
which already have been heard by this committee without 
any real substantive understanding of the issue, or is this 
presenter providing a fresh, thoughtful and considered 
analysis of Bill 107? 

When you answer these three questions, I believe you 
will have a much better sense of the considerable weight 
of support behind Bill 107 and the house of cards which 
has been built by the dissenters. 

I turn now to my colleague. 



15 NOVEMBRE 2006 COMITÉ PERMANENT DE LA JUSTICE JP-887 

The Vice-Chair: If you could identify yourself for 
Hansard before you start. 

Ms. Yola Grant: My name is Yola Grant. I practise in 
the area of human rights, employment and labour law. I 
was formerly a member of the Attorney General’s office 
and also functioned as counsel to the Human Rights 
Tribunal of Ontario. In that role, I was privileged to work 
on the first set of rules of procedure for that tribunal. I’m 
now in private practice and, like Mark, belong to the 
group of human rights lawyers who work on the front 
line, representing many different franchise claimants of 
various vulnerable groups who seek the protection of the 
code. 

Mr. McMeekin: Just before you go on—I’m sorry. 
Mr. Chair, I’m having difficulty hearing the presenter. 

Ms. Grant: Okay, I’ll move this up. I’ll attempt to 
speak louder and closer. 

Mr. McMeekin: It’s a combination of the noise 
outside— 

The Chair: We’ll asked them to quieten that down. 
Ms. Grant: Thank you. I will make three main points 

dealing with the powers and mandate of the commission, 
the powers of the tribunal, and the supports being offered 
under Bill 107 for applicants to the tribunal. 

First, dealing with the commission, I want to make 
three simple points, a couple of which appear to have 
been addressed this morning by the minister’s announce-
ment. The first is that the Association of Human Rights 
Lawyers strongly supports a commission’s role to inter-
vene in any application in which, in its sole discretion, it 
determines there’s a public interest to enforce, and, 
secondly, that the commission retains its power to initiate 
its own applications. We know that this is a power the 
commission has had but not exercised in its many years 
of existence, and we would certainly encourage the 
government to retain that power and in fact to flex their 
muscles in this area. The third point regarding the com-
mission’s power is that it retain its investigative powers. I 
note that the minister this morning announced certain 
amendments. I’m not in a position to compare and con-
trast them with the current powers, but I’d ask that the 
powers to compel that the commission currently enjoys 
should be retained to allow them sufficient authority to 
effectively investigate systemic cases of discrimination in 
this province. 

Regarding procedural fairness, I have a few more 
points to make, and I’d like to remind everyone that you 
should have a copy of this three-page submission. I gave 
copies to Ms. Stokes earlier and I believe it was dis-
tributed. On page 2 I deal with the tribunal process. I 
have broken it down into two areas: procedural fairness 
as well as substantive fairness. 

On the point of procedural fairness, the first three 
bullets deal with permitting the tribunal’s power to en-
sure a timely resolution, the tribunal’s having flexibility 
similar to that enjoyed by the Ontario Labour Relations 
Board to stream cases depending on the complexity of 
the cases, and also depending on the party’s expression 
of their wish regarding how the matter might be handled. 

The third point is to ensure that the practice and pro-
cedural rules incorporate any necessary accommodations 
to optimize the participation of parties, whether that is 
translation or use of other assistive devices or methods of 
convening a hearing, electronically or otherwise, to 
ensure that parties can truly participate from wherever 
they are socially located. 

The fourth point is one that the Association of Human 
Rights Lawyers feel quite strongly about: to depart from 
the long-established practice of dismissing complaints 
without providing reasons that a complainant can make 
sense of. So we’re asking that Bill 107 limit the oppor-
tunity for summary dismissal of cases to only those appli-
cations that clearly fall outside the jurisdiction of the 
tribunal. When I say “clearly fall outside the jurisdic-
tion,” it might be something as simple as a matter that 
belongs elsewhere, that the statute to which that dispute 
applies can be clearly pointed out and the would-be 
applicant convinced to take their case elsewhere without 
umbrage, without concern that they are missing out on an 
opportunity to have their matter resolved. 

The fifth bullet requires the tribunal to provide written 
reasons. This is something again that goes to one’s notion 
of fairness. Particularly in dealing with dignity interests, 
it’s important for applicants to leave a process, even 
when they are dismissed, understanding why they’ve 
been dismissed and having some sense that they’ve been 
heard and their matters addressed on the merits. 

A final point, probably the most important point 
among these that I don’t believe was addressed by the 
amendments mentioned by the minister this morning, is 
to require the tribunal, before dismissing any application, 
to ensure that an appropriate remedy has been provided 
to an applicant. It is common practice now to look at an 
application and see whether or not that person had sought 
or even obtained some hearing in another forum. What 
we urge you to consider and to support with an amend-
ment is to ensure that that inquiry includes a look at the 
question of whether an appropriate remedy was provided. 
It’s not uncommon for the very issue that is in dispute to 
be raised elsewhere and for the other tribunal to have 
deferred handling the matter, saying that they would 
defer to the human rights process. One must be careful 
that, even though a person might have been heard—in a 
grievance process or in a matter before the rental housing 
tribunal some part of the dispute might have been heard 
and resolved—the dignity interests might not have been 
addressed by way of a remedy. 

On the matter of substantive fairness regarding tribun-
al powers, the Association of Human Rights Lawyers 
urges that Bill 107 provide for an expert tribunal, that 
members be chosen from among persons who are trained 
and experienced in human rights matters, and that these 
members be selected through a competitive and trans-
parent process. On a separate note, from dealing with the 
competency of tribunal members, the association urges 
this committee to seek amendments that would require 
the tribunal to consider all relevant policy documents 
produced by the commission. We are asking that the 
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commission remain, that its investigative powers be 
stepped up for the purpose of systemic discrimination, 
but also that they continue in their role in crafting policy 
and assisting by way of research and policy papers to 
guide all of us in our work in human rights. We are 
asking, given their expertise and the work they have 
certainly done over the last 20 years in drafting policy, 
that these policies be taken quite seriously by the tribunal 
and that it’s not a matter for the tribunal in its discretion 
to decide whether to aver to the policies but that they be 
required to—not that they would be bound by it but that 
they would certainly look to the policy, and if they depart 
from the policy, they do so in a conscientious manner. 
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Finally, on the subject of tribunal powers, we are 
urging that the tribunal be provided with particular 
powers of inquiry that would assist applicants to ensure 
that proceedings are not protracted, as well as assist with 
the production of evidence through compelling particular 
witnesses to appear before them, compelling the pro-
duction of documents, and other powers that today are 
actually quite standard powers at the Ontario Labour 
Relations Board. 

The third area that I would like to address, being the 
supports for applicants to the tribunal: You’ve heard 
already of the need for legal representation and supports 
by way of advice and information to applicants. I would 
like to identify three other areas that I consider to be, 
broadly speaking, matters pertaining to support that Bill 
107 can address. 

The first is to recognize that Bill 107 provides appli-
cants with the opportunity to have carriage and control 
over their matters. This act of autonomy is also a matter 
of dignity, which is not permitted today with the gate-
keeping and veto functions provided by the commission. 

A second point is that applicant status, who can be an 
applicant, should be broadened to ensure that third parties 
can apply to have matters addressed. Right now, appli-
cant status is restricted to persons who are directly 
affected. Advocacy groups and other service or support 
organizations are not in a position to file third party 
complaints or applications to have matters addressed. 
Unions are not in a position to do so either, although they 
are generally recognized as a third party, an organized 
third party, who can, certainly before the labour relations 
board, function as a party. We are urging this committee 
to have the government look into and seriously consider 
expanding the notion of who can be an applicant so that 
service organizations that have some expertise in sup-
porting vulnerable communities can go forward in their 
stead. 

The fourth point on page 3 deals with the commis-
sion’s ability to intervene, which we are advocating be 
added to Bill 107 and that it be an ability to intervene in 
any and all applications, that that provides yet another 
opportunity for support for complainants. 

Finally, I propose also that should the tribunal be 
given special inquiry powers, that, too, would serve as a 
support to complainants and applicants in this process. 

Thanks very much for your attention. Mark and I are 
available, and I believe we have five or more minutes 
remaining and will entertain your questions. 

The Chair: Yes, we have a couple of minutes each. 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you, folks. I appreciate your 

coming very much. 
Ms. Drent, the legislative research officer, in response 

to one of our queries about civil court wait times, came 
up with the most recent data, dating back to 1997. The 
average civil case took three to five years to resolve and 
cost each litigant $38,000. That’s average, and as we 
know, the vast majority of civil cases don’t go to trial 
either; they’re resolved one way or another—three to five 
years and an average cost of $38,000. 

The human rights commission, in the time frame 
2005-06, disposed of 2,117 cases. The average age of 
these files was 12.9 months. One hundred and forty-three 
cases were referred to the tribunal. The average age of 
these cases was 27.6 months, two years and a quarter. On 
March 31, 2006, 85 complaints—about 3% of the case 
load—was over three years old. 

You might argue that the triaging that takes place at 
the onset is overly aggressive, Mr. Hart, but these are the 
numbers. I know that the civil court system out there may 
not be comparable directly to the proposal here—al-
though I find some unique similarities—but in terms of 
the admitted problems in terms of the slowness with 
which cases travel through the commission, this is the 
commission’s own data. How do we reconcile that with 
the mythical eight-year-old case? And I know there are 
some because my constituency office, like you said, deals 
with them. 

Mr. Hart: I appreciate the question, actually. It’s a 
good opportunity to address this. I don’t know where the 
statistics on the civil cases come from, but it’s apples and 
oranges. 

Mr. Kormos: The Attorney General. 
Mr. Hart: Yes. The apples and oranges that you’re 

comparing here—anybody who has heard the current 
chair of the tribunal speak about the procedures that are 
being planned for the new tribunal structure knows that 
what he’s planning is actually a very new and innovative 
process, in terms of a much more activist and in-
quisitorial model than the traditional adversarial model 
that we see in our court systems that in fact is not serving 
the people of this province very well. What I would 
expect we’ll see in a direct access system, where you’ve 
got a reinvigorated tribunal which is pursuing this inno-
vative kind of inquisitorial model, are much-reduced 
times. Certainly, the chair of the tribunal believes that the 
one-year time frame for resolving cases at the tribunal is 
realistic. 

With regard to the commission’s statistics, they spin 
them all kinds of different ways. When I look at their 
statistics when a case goes to investigation, the average 
length of time is three years. My cases are much longer, I 
find. 

The Chair: Thank you very much. Any comment 
from the government side, Mr. Zimmer? 
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Mr. David Zimmer (Willowdale): I have a thought 
that has struck me. You used the expression, “You can 
find your way through this by consulting the experts.” 
You and your colleague are obviously experts. We’ve 
heard from presenters before you who were obviously 
experts who came through the same system, studied the 
same problems and dealt with the same problems. My 
reflection here is that presumably you and the folks on 
the other side of the debate—everybody wants to get to 
the same place, that is, dealing effectively with these 
complaints. I ask myself, “How is it that experts with the 
same background, dealing with the same problems with 
the same good ambitions in place, can be so different in 
their approach to the problem?” I know that’s a philoso-
phical query, but I’d be interested in your reaction. 

Mr. Hart: It’s a very important question and a very 
interesting question. There is a fundamental structural 
and philosophical difference between the two sides of 
this debate. What I’m encouraging this committee to 
have consideration of is the fact that these very debates, 
in terms of different approaches to trying to address these 
well-documented problems, have been debated before. 
They were debated in the context of the widespread con-
sultations, both in the Cornish report and the La Forest 
report. These blue-ribbon task forces, with people who 
have a tremendous amount of expertise in the areas, 
considered all of the back and forth and conflicting views 
and, having considered all of that, came to conclusions 
which are now embodied in Bill 107. 

The Chair: Thank you. Mrs. Elliott? 
Mrs. Christine Elliott (Whitby–Ajax): A brief com-

ment: I’d like to thank you, Mr. Hart and Ms. Grant, for 
your presentation this morning. Certainly from the three 
days of travelling hearings that we held during the 
summer, we’re very aware of the wide divergence of 
views here. Also, the fact that we’ve been presented with 
this summary of proposed amendments from the 
Attorney General this morning—I think we’re all at a dis-
advantage here because we’re not really able to comment 
in detail and to ask you perhaps some more specific 
questions with respect to your presentation. We’ll cer-
tainly keep it all in mind as we get the full text of the 
amendments and we’re able to review them in that 
context. So thank you very much. 
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Ms. Grant: I would like to add one comment—
actually, two comments. To respond to Mr. Kormos, the 
more appropriate comparator, in my view, would be the 
labour relations board or other quasi-judicial tribunals 
rather than the civil court system. Those other tribunals 
require fulsome responses, so you don’t get bogged down 
with the cost and delays of discoveries that are a major 
impediment in delivering justice in the civil system. 

To Mr. Zimmer, I would say that it might seem on the 
surface that we’re of the same background, but indeed 
we’re not. There is a huge divide in the community 
between those who are practitioners and those who are 
not. 

The Chair: Thank you very much. 

ONTARIO HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION 
The Chair: Next is the Ontario Human Rights Com-

mission. Good morning, Ms. Hall. You have 30 minutes. 
You may begin any time. 

Ms. Barbara Hall: Thank you. Good morning. I’m 
here today with Nancy Austin, the executive director of 
the commission, who may be able to assist me if you ask 
questions. 

I’m pleased to be with you this morning and to bring 
you the view of the Ontario Human Rights Commission 
on Bill 107 and its implications for the human rights 
system in Ontario. I anticipate that over the next few days 
and weeks, as this morning, you’ll hear many considered 
and informed opinions about the proposed legislation. 
We’ve already heard different parties say many different 
things about this bill. However, I think it’s important to 
remember as we proceed that in many respects we’re all 
on the same side. Each of us who speaks to the com-
mittee—every group, every individual—is here because 
we feel the discussion is of fundamental importance. 
We’re all committed to strong human rights, to building a 
better system, to promoting and protecting rights more 
effectively, to bringing the message to everyone. 

What disagreements we have relate to how we do it. 
But I think the differences are not, in fact, that great, and 
over the past few months we’ve seen much movement 
towards a common ground in the discussion about the 
kinds of amendments that people advocated. The com-
mission applauds that progress. We support the sense of 
compromise and consensus-building that has resulted in 
the amendments proposed this morning by the Attorney 
General. If there’s more work done in that same spirit, 
we’re confident that many differences can be addressed 
and, hopefully, resolved. 

We’ve been working with the Ministry of the Attorney 
General for some months, recommending changes and 
amendments to Bill 107. New changes are still being 
developed. The commission will review them thoroughly 
and provide you with our formal comments in writing 
before the end of the hearings. 

I hope that we’re all agreed that the status quo is not 
an option. There’s important work to be done, and reform 
is needed to complete that work. 

The Ontario Human Rights Code is a fundamental 
piece of legislation. It provides the framework, a road 
map upon which our human rights system is based. To be 
successful, the code must be recognized and accepted as 
an essential standard on which our society is built. But 
from time to time, maps need to be updated and revised. 
As times change, the needs of the people of Ontario 
change with them. The time has come—is probably past 
due, in fact—for important changes to our human rights 
road map. 

The commission wants change. A crucial part of our 
work is identifying and acting on new problems that need 
attention. For example, our recent work on the Forrester 
case has helped establish new ways to protect the rights 
of transsexual people. We’ve championed the fight 
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against racial profiling, including the development of a 
new policy to help guide police services and others. 

With a renewed, broad mandate to conduct inquiries, 
do research and develop enforceable policies, we can 
continue to have a human rights system that is always 
moving forward. 

From our position, monitoring the system and the 
people it serves, we’re looking for change that will lead 
us to a better balance. That balance must be between 
effectively addressing individual claims and proactively 
creating a culture of human rights. 

We are all too aware of the limitations of the existing 
code and have, many times, called for amendment and 
improvement. That’s why we’ve welcomed and shared 
the government’s vision of a strengthened commission, 
based on international principles, more focused on pre-
vention and systemic issues, inside a rebalanced system 
for enforcing and promoting human rights. 

From the time that Bill 107 was first proposed last 
spring, the commission has taken an active role in the 
discussion about its merits. We’ve met with stakeholders 
outside and inside government. 

The commission has carefully considered the potential 
impact of each section of the proposed legislation, com-
paring it to what we have now. As I said earlier, we’ve 
recommended many improvements to the government. 

One that remains outstanding is the commission’s 
capacity to appeal tribunal decisions to the higher courts. 
In the past such appeals, although rare, have played an 
important role in advancing human rights through 
precedent-setting case law. 

Many individuals and groups have spoken out 
passionately about the bill. They have sincere beliefs 
about what reforms are needed to improve Ontario’s 
human rights system. Sometimes those beliefs have 
clashed. The result at times has been a difficult and even 
divisive process. 

At the commission, it’s often been hard for us to hear 
criticisms, and sometimes inaccuracies, about our work. 
However, I believe we’ve learned from the criticisms and 
been able to correct some of the public misconceptions. I 
am happy to say that we’ve also heard about our 
strengths and our successes. 

Since I began my work here, a year ago this month, 
I’ve experienced first-hand what has been recognized 
nationally and internationally: how effective the com-
mission can be. We’re recognized and emulated around 
the world, not simply because we’re one of the first 
human rights commissions but because of the outstanding 
quality of our work. Our thanks are due to the talented 
and committed staff of the commission. 

Fear of losing these strengths may be the source of 
some of the concern and alarm expressed about the bill: 
the concern that individual complainants might not have 
what they need going forward; the fear that the good 
things we do now and are recognized for—the outreach, 
the systemic inquiries and the policy work—might be 
lost. 

At the commission, we’ve listened to these legitimate 
concerns and considered how they might best be ad-

dressed. For us the bottom line is that any change needs 
to protect vital elements of the human rights system, but 
also bring progressive change for the better. Given the 
opportunity, I know the commission and the system can 
do more and do it better. 
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So here we are with Bill 107 and its proposed amend-
ments. Is it perfect? Frankly, I don’t know of any perfect 
legislation, but it must create a framework strong enough 
to build on and move forward to a place we want to go, 
with the tools, opportunities and resources to do that. 
Will this bill advance the cause of human rights in On-
tario? Overall, we think it can. Clearly, not everyone 
agrees. However, we do all agree that individual com-
plainants must have their cases dealt with fairly, quickly 
and effectively, and we believe the system must change 
to allow that to happen. 

We also believe that a human rights system primarily 
focused on individual complaints, as the current one is, 
ignores broader issues that cry out for attention. Consider 
that there are 13 million people in this province, often 
described as among the most diverse population in the 
world. We know from polling, from anecdotal stories and 
even intuitively that many more people experience dis-
crimination than those who make it to the commission—
many more than could ever hope to obtain justice in an 
individual, case-by-case process. So when we’re looking 
for change, we’re looking for the infrastructure necessary 
to address the tough issues, to identify and get rid of 
barriers to equity, to make our communities healthy and 
safe, to create that climate of understanding and mutual 
respect for the dignity and worth of each person spoken 
of in the preamble of the code and in the international 
human rights declaration. 

The best way to reduce the need for individual com-
plaints is to effect genuine social change. The com-
mission needs to focus its energy on making social 
change happen if we’re going to achieve a culture of 
human rights. We need to tackle the big, systemic issues 
through public inquiries, commission-initiated com-
plaints, public education and outreach. We also need to 
maintain our broad mandate, as set out in the United 
Nations’ Paris Principles. 

We must also make sure that we make a smooth 
transition from an old system to a new framework. While 
we talk about what change might look like here, the com-
mission is still working on existing complaints and 
receiving dozens of new ones every week. There will 
need to be a period of some months when two systems 
will need to operate side by side. That will be a 
challenge. We’ll also need to find ways to ensure that the 
skill and knowledge of our staff are not lost to the 
system. But with adequate resources, we believe the 
transition can be made smoothly. 

We believe the key task is to bring balance to the 
system so that the system can protect and promote human 
rights. To do that, we need to be prepared to make big 
changes; tinkering with the current system is not enough. 
We need to make sure the money is there to do the job 
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right; balance depends on that. We have an historic 
opportunity right now. If we don’t take it, I fear it will 
slip by and may not come around again for years. 

This opportunity could help us change focus in im-
portant ways. Our annual report this past year reminds us 
that issues such as racism, Islamophobia, homophobia, 
harassment and violence toward women, and barriers 
faced by people with disabilities continue to loom large 
in our communities. A recent survey indicated that age 
discrimination is on the rise. Relieved of individual com-
plaints, the commission could expand its ability to 
address these issues in a strategic, systemic way. We 
could take the lessons learned, for example, in the restau-
rant initiative and apply them proactively in many other 
sectors. 

The commission could also put more of its energy into 
addressing fundamental areas of human rights where the 
United Nations is currently focusing its international 
attention: economic, social and cultural rights, such as 
the right to housing. 

We need to find new ways to involve the community 
in the work of the commission, and the commission in 
the work of the community. Such partnerships are essen-
tial as we move towards creating a culture of human 
rights. 

If this bill is passed, the commission will work hard 
with all the individuals and organizations, for and 
against, to make this a reality. 

The new legislation will need to be carefully moni-
tored and reviewed. There may be unforeseen problems 
that will have to be addressed promptly. We’ll do that. 

The bottom line is that we can make reform work to 
meet the needs of Ontarians and ensure our position as a 
leader in human rights, in Canada and abroad. It’s im-
portant work that’s urgently needed. Together, I believe 
we can make it happen. Thank you. 

Mr. Kormos: On a point of order, Mr. Chair: We’re 
down to about three of the five government members. 
Perhaps a five-minute recess would be appropriate so that 
Mr. Orazietti and Mr. Berardinetti can hear what Ms. 
Hall has to say in response to questions. Mr. Orazietti left 
the minute Ms. Hall started. I don’t know if they have a 
history, but— 

The Chair: Mr. Kormos, it’s not a point of order. 
We’ll go to the government side, if you have any 
questions or comments? 

Mrs. Maria Van Bommel (Lambton–Kent–Middle-
sex): Thank you for your presentation. I found it very 
interesting. On the third page of your presentation you 
talk about the capacity to do appeal. Could you expand a 
little further on that? 

Ms. Hall: Yes. One of the current functions of the 
commission, and something that would continue, is the 
development of policy. Our policy is important, not just 
as something that is applied in the hearings at the com-
mission, as well as at the tribunal, but also in changing 
behaviour. 

For example, when we developed a policy on accom-
modation for people with disabilities, that policy formed 

a major part of our public education function. We met 
with major employers across the province, with human 
resource organizations, and told them how the com-
mission interpreted that duty to accommodate, and those 
employers made changes in the way they responded to 
the needs of their employees. Human resource pro-
fessionals went out to their clients and said that these are 
changes that promote the integration of people with 
disabilities or people requiring other kinds of accommo-
dation into the society and the workplace. We’re only 
effective with that if our policy is applied at the tribunal. 

At present, in the vast majority of cases, when we put 
forward our policy, the tribunal, in its decisions, applies 
that. In areas where there’s a disagreement, we believe 
it’s essential that there be another level to determine 
who’s right in that case. If our policy is wrong, we need 
to be told that. If it’s right, then the tribunal needs to 
consider it in making its decisions. Because of that, 
without requiring complaints to be laid, in many cases 
change will be made in our society based on that policy. 
If it were to go to the tribunal and not be applied and 
there were no mechanism to respond to that difference, 
we believe that many people would ignore it. They’d take 
their chances. So a lot of the proactive work we do 
requires that our policy is seen as sound and what will be 
applied in the complaint process and as people wanting to 
avoid complaints make the change. 
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Mrs. Elliott: Thank you very much, Ms. Hall, for 
appearing before the committee today. Your insight is 
really invaluable to us as we move forward with this. I 
just have one question, and it reflects the concerns of 
some of the presenters both during the summer hearings 
as well as the first presenters this morning about the 
separation of the commission from the individual com-
plaints as they come forward, because systemic issues 
don’t normally walk through the door. Even with the 
amendments that I see the Attorney General has put 
forward, I understand that the commission can initiate 
investigations into systemic complaints. I’m wondering 
how they’ll even know about them under the new system. 

Ms. Hall: We see that it is important to talk about a 
system. You can have systems where there are pieces that 
function as silos or in an integrated way, and we see it as 
necessary that this system will operate in an integrated 
way. We see, for example, having a memorandum of 
understanding with the tribunal that will set out in it 
many ways that we will work co-operatively together. 
We believe it’s important that we be able to see the cases 
as they come in. We know that often, when individual 
complaints come forward, if there’s a systemic com-
ponent to them, we’ve already heard about that issue, and 
we know that particular cases with particular circum-
stances have systemic components. We’ve been told by 
Michael Gottheil, chair of the tribunal, that he would see 
in his rules the ability of the tribunal to also, in places 
where they’ve identified a systemic issue, invite the 
commission to intervene. It would be up to us whether or 
not we did that. 



JP-892 STANDING COMMITTEE ON JUSTICE POLICY 15 NOVEMBER 2006 

But I think one of the challenges of the current system 
is that we have identified systemic issues primarily based 
on what has come before us as individual complaints, and 
we have tended to focus on what’s come in the door as 
opposed to working more closely with communities out 
there to identify what the systemic issues are and how 
they can be strategically proceeded with or addressed. 
Our priorities, in a sense, are set by what comes in the 
door, and I believe that there are many situations where 
we miss issues because communities are not connected to 
the process, are not aware of those rights, do not believe 
that there’s a way of addressing them. As I said in my 
comments, we need to go out and work more closely with 
communities and set our priorities through that rela-
tionship. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much for coming. 
When I was younger, at weddings they used to ask you 
whether you were with the bride or the groom, and they’d 
seat you on one side or the other. They should have asked 
folks, “Are you for or agin?” so that we’d have the 
applause being more focused from one side of the room 
or the other side of the room here today. 

Look, this is a very controversial issue and there are 
no two ways about it. There are two things I’m interested 
in. I have regard for what you have to say about this, 
along with a whole lot of other things. On page 4 you talk 
about, “Will this bill advance the cause of human rights 
in Ontario? Overall, we think it can.” With respect, who 
is “we”? Exactly whom are you speaking for when you 
say, “We think it can”? 

Ms. Hall: The Ontario Human Rights Commission. 
Mr. Kormos: To wit— 
Ms. Hall: The 14 commissioners who are the Ontario 

Human Rights Commission. 
Mr. Kormos: I trust, then, that there’s unanimity in 

that respect? 
Ms. Hall: The commission’s position is that we can. 
Mr. Kormos: I trust, then, though, that there’s 

unanimity in that regard. 
Ms. Hall: The commission’s position—our goal is to 

have a shared position, a consensus position. 
Mr. Kormos: Okay; fair enough. On page 3 you talk 

about what appears to be your recommendation that the 
government incorporate the right to appeal into Bill 107, 
and if I’m correct in that inference, you and I have some 
common ground. There’s been criticism of advocates for 
the right to appeal. There’s been support by those same 
people who support Bill 107 of the omission of the right 
to appeal. Help us understand why the right to appeal is a 
valid and important inclusion in any system, whether it’s 
the Bill 107 system or the system that retains a stronger, 
proactive commission role. 

Ms. Hall: I know there are arguments that apply quite 
broadly in administrative law that the goal is to have an 
experienced tribunal, who are the best to make the 
decisions, and going to the courts doesn’t necessarily 
give one that same level of expertise. I think when we’re 
talking about human rights, we’re talking about quasi-
constitutional rights, and in order for us to be effective in 

areas like the use of our policy, the application of our 
policy, we need to have another body, a senior body, 
address disagreements that occur. There are concerns 
raised that too often appeals are used by respondents to 
delay the final resolution of issues, but we believe that 
it’s important to have that opportunity to resolve what 
may appear to the world to be differences between 
commission policy and tribunal decisions. 

Mr. Kormos: Fair enough. Mr. Hart suggested that 
the commission spins its data. Were you here when he 
said that? I’m hard-pressed to believe that. Are you? 

Ms. Hall: We take our role seriously. I talked about 
the fact that there have been some criticisms that have 
been hard to take. I think there have been other criticisms 
that have been easy to ignore. 

Mr. Kormos: So Mr. Hart is a little off base on that 
one? 

Ms. Hall: I think that what appears on our annual 
report and any of the material we put out is based on an 
un-spinned version of the facts. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you, Ms. Hall. I appreciate your 
coming here today. 

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Hall. 
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RAJ ANAND 
The Chair: Next we have Raj Anand. He’s a former 

chief commissioner and tribunal member. Good morning. 
You have 30 minutes. 

Mr. Raj Anand: I understand that a motion was 
passed, I believe on August 9, calling on former chief 
commissioners to come before this committee, and I’m 
pleased to do so and to provide whatever assistance I can. 

I was hoping that my successor, Catherine Frazee, 
would be able to share my time this morning. She was 
planning to do so but was unfortunately unable to come 
today because of the death of a close friend. I understand 
that she will be appearing later on. 

The 1962 Human Rights Code was based on a 1947 
New York state model, which has been replicated across 
Canada—in most of the 10 provinces, the three territories 
and the federal jurisdiction—throughout the 1960s, 
1970s, 1980s and even into the 1990s. That 1947 model 
is based on an outmoded concept of discrimination and a 
rudimentary administrative law structure. The result is 
that despite the dedicated and hard-working staff and 
commissioners, and of course the current chief com-
missioner, Barbara Hall, it is a model which has outlived 
its usefulness, and I can say it outlived it long before I 
became chief commissioner in 1988. 

I have to say that in my home office, I have a plaque 
on the wall which was from 1988, celebrating the 40th 
anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, and it’s signed by the Premier and the minister 
and myself. Unfortunately, it is a piece of paper that I 
think symbolizes the wide human rights protections we 
treasure and are proud of as Canadians that exist in our 
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law but are effectively unenforceable before human 
rights commissions, today and for some time. 

The Ontario commission, in my respectful view, had 
ceased to be effective before the time that I was there. It 
was ineffective before, during and after my tenure as 
chief commissioner because the structure in place was 
ineffective. I campaigned and lobbied and secured a 50% 
increase in its budget, but that didn’t serve the purpose, 
because I and other chief commissioners were limited by 
the existing legislation. In my case, I know I tried to 
improve enforcement capacity and promotion of equality 
through various administrative and organizational re-
forms, but the legislation, then and now, was an obstacle. 

Since that time, I’ve practised before the commission, 
I’ve represented the Ontario and federal commissions, 
I’ve sat on a tribunal hearing cases brought by the com-
mission, I’ve tried to teach some of these concepts of 
creating tribunals and shaping administrative practices to 
master’s students, but more than anything else, I’ve 
represented complainants and respondents in human 
rights cases before human rights commissions, before 
labour arbitration boards, before the courts. 

When I say complainants, I’m speaking of individual 
complainants who have suffered sexual harassment, 
racism, the refusal to accommodate disability or their 
religious beliefs, homophobia, age discrimination and so 
on. 

I’ve also represented a number of organizations which 
are at the grassroots of these issues, such as CERA; 
MARC, the Minority Advocacy and Rights Council, 
which I chair; NAPO, the National Anti-Poverty 
Organization; OCAP; the Foundation for Equal Families; 
the Native Women’s Association; many legal clinics and 
South Asian organizations. 

I also want to note that I represent and have rep-
resented respondents—employers, housing providers 
such as co-ops and non-profits, sports organizations, 
hospitals, universities and so on—and I hope I can bring 
that perspective as well. 

I’ve tried to work in the areas of access to justice 
through organizations such as Pro Bono Law Ontario, the 
late and lamented court challenges program, of which I 
was a panel member until a month ago, and the equity 
advisory group. I tell you this not to give you my CV but 
so that you can assess—and I would ask you to assess—
the positions of those who favour the retention of the 
gatekeeper. 

When you have witnesses before you, I recommend 
that you ask what their actual experience has been of 
litigation before the Human Rights Commission or a 
tribunal. I say that you need to ask these hard-working 
and well-meaning advocates, do they take complaints 
before the Human Rights Commission or do they, as I do, 
spend a lot of time advising people on how not to go to 
the Human Rights Commission but to find other 
processes and remedies which are more effective? It’s 
because of that that we’ve had a plethora of other statutes 
and organizations created. The Pay Equity Commission, 
the application of disability rules at the Workplace Safety 
and Insurance Board and tribunal, internal human rights 

processes, collective bargaining, human rights pro-
cesses—all of these have been designed to take over 
where the commission structure, in my respectful view, 
has failed. 

I suggest when you hear from those who say that the 
solution is not to reform the system but to throw money 
at it, or who say that human rights officers provide 
support to complainants so don’t take that away, in fact 
the reality is that by law they provide nothing of the sort. 
Their first disclaimer to the parties, and it’s a legitimate 
one, is that they represent no one. They are neutral 
investigators. They therefore, as Mr. Hart said earlier, 
have conflicting roles from the outset. 

Or those who say that direct access is wrong because 
complainants need representation—the fact is that com-
plainants get public representation at no stage of the 44-
year-old process in Ontario. None. At the tribunal, for 
those 5% who get to the tribunal, the public represent-
ation is provided by the commission, which often takes a 
different position from the complainant, and the com-
plainant is left to hire counsel, to seek legal aid or in 
some other way to obtain legal representation. Indeed, in 
some cases—and I was involved in one fairly recently—
the prime opponent of the complainant is the com-
mission. That was true in a constitutional case that I was 
involved in, in which the commission took the position 
that it had no jurisdiction and the complainant had to take 
this up to the Court of Appeal—unsuccessfully, I might 
add—but the commission was, at all points, on the 
opposite side of the complainant. So there’s no public 
representation of complainants under the present system 
and there never has been. 

There are those who say that the gatekeeper function 
of the commission should be retained. The result of that 
is that the entire decision-making function has to be done 
at least twice before getting to a decision on whether 
there was discrimination. That’s our present system and 
that, from a standpoint of public administration, which in 
my respectful view should concern you, duplicates the 
cost and duplicates the time. It’s not solved, as some 
have recommended recently, by adding layers of appeal 
to the paper hearing at which commissioners spend 
something like seven minutes per application before them 
at the meeting in deciding whether the matter should go 
on to a tribunal or not. 

Finally, you have to ask those who say that the 
enormous delays can be reduced under the current 
system—let me make no mistake about this. Delay is the 
single most debilitating factor of human rights enforce-
ment in this country. It renders the human rights enforce-
ment process ineffective in and of itself. It results in 
complainants giving up their cases and making settle-
ments for virtually nothing. It results in respondents 
throwing a little money, relatively for them, at a 
complainant in order to be done with the process rather 
than spending a whole lot more on lawyers. So in terms 
of access to justice, it denies access to both sides. 
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As we know, the fundamental structural difficulties in 
the Human Rights Commission process across the 
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country have been revealed by any number of studies and 
commissions, including, as you’ve heard, the very 
capable and expert inquiries by Mary Cornish and by the 
panel chaired by former Justice La Forest, as well as 
repeated reports of the international Committee on 
Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the UN 
Human Rights Committee. 

There is no right to a hearing under the current statute. 
Ninety-five per cent of complaints are screened out, 
abandoned or settled, with no decision on whether 
discrimination occurred. One might ask, if you told the 
landlords of this province that an application to the 
Rental Housing Tribunal for nonpayment of rent would 
be subject to an investigation and a discretionary decision 
on the part of the Rental Housing Tribunal on whether, in 
its discretion, it chose to allow a hearing of whether a 
tenant should be permitted not to pay rent, I fancy to say 
that you’d have landlords marching in the streets. 
Instead, we have quasi-constitutional rights that are 
subject to that discretion and it’s virtually unreviewable 
by the courts. 

Again, I ask you to consider that as you hear those 
who criticize the absence of an appeal right in Bill 107, 
something which the chief commissioner addressed and 
which I’m happy to speak to as well in greater detail. 

At the La Forest task force, that blue-ribbon panel 
found virtual unanimity across the country that the 
system was broken, and not just underfunded but broken. 
They asked me to draft sort of a detailed blueprint on 
what should replace it. What I recommended was what I 
called a modified labour board model. This addresses to 
some extent Mr. Kormos’s question earlier about the 
appropriate comparator: the courts versus another admin-
istrative tribunal. I say “modified” because the labour 
board model is essentially one in which you file a case 
and you get an adjudication. You don’t necessarily get an 
oral hearing. There are a variety of innovative possible 
structures in terms of how the case is heard, but you get a 
binding adjudication on the merits, which you don’t get 
in 95% of the cases currently—modified because you’re 
not dealing with two relatively equal parties in trade 
unions and employers as you are at the labour board; 
you’re dealing with vulnerable, disadvantaged groups by 
definition if they have a valid human rights complaint. 

Therefore, there has to be publicly funded legal rep-
resentation for complainants. That was essentially the 
model that I recommended. It was essentially adopted by 
the task force, creating essentially three branches, the 
commission being left to the work it does the best—the 
policy and research and public education work—as well 
as the right to take over or intervene in any individual 
human rights complaint. That, as I understand the Attor-
ney General’s proposed amendment that was announced 
to you today, is what is being substituted for the former 
systemic restriction which Ms. Elliott was asking about 
earlier. As I understand the proposed amendment, the 
commission will be permitted to file an application at any 
time where it views that application as being in the public 
interest. So it could include individual as well as what we 

call systemic complaints. As I understand it, the systemic 
definition, which is problematic, is not going to be part of 
that because it would only feed litigation over definitions. 

The essential element is the right of the Human Rights 
Commission, as a public advocate, to intervene or to 
initiate complaints. I commend the Attorney General for 
having clarified and added that. I see that, quite frankly, 
as a victory and a recognition of the valid criticisms that 
have been put forward during consideration of this bill by 
what some would regard as opponents but I certainly 
regard as those who want to contribute to a better 
process. 

The other aspect is a mandatory legal support centre. 
Again, as I understand the announcement this morning, 
that is going to be enshrined in legislation. It’s important 
that that legal support centre be independent of gov-
ernment, of the commission and of the tribunal, and that 
it be properly funded. I commend the proposed amend-
ments that make this mandatory, because direct access, 
and I would be the first to say this, falls to the ground 
without proper legal advice and representation. What you 
get is the BC model or, indeed, the present Human Rights 
Code, neither of which provides this essential rep-
resentation function. 

There must be a role for the Human Rights Com-
mission as a publicly funded advocate, not as a gate-
keeper to prevent access but rather as an advocate to do 
the difficult and proactive public policy work that Chief 
Commissioner Hall was speaking of, which is vitally 
important to avoid complaints; to change practices not 
through the labour-intensive, costly process of com-
plaints, but rather to do it in a more substantive, proactive 
way; to advise the labour federations, the manufacturers’ 
associations, the housing associations and so on as to 
what the proper practices should be and get them to make 
proactive change rather than waiting for an ex post facto 
complaint. 

The tribunal, under this legislation and under its rules, 
must have the tools to run both fair and expeditious 
hearings—expeditious for the reasons I gave earlier in 
terms of delay being the single most debilitating factor. 
Fair is obvious: It has to be fair to both sides. That 
doesn’t mean one-size-fits-all, in terms of an oral hearing 
going on for three weeks with interminable witnesses for 
every case. The tribunal, like any modern administrative 
tribunal, has to be given the tools—and I understand the 
legislation gives it those tools—to adopt practices which 
are suited to the complaint in question. So some cases 
will get a summary dismissal. Some cases will require 
further inquiry akin to discovery. Other cases can go to 
an oral hearing. It will depend on, for example, who’s 
behind the complaint, whether it’s a legal support centre, 
a legal clinic, an advocacy organization, a lawyer. Make 
no mistake of it: Lawyers in the private bar, I expect, will 
have a small role to play under this new structure, 
contrary to some of the criticisms that have been levelled 
at it. Certainly, that’s what I anticipate. 

The tribunal needs to be able to tailor the adjudication 
process to the nature of the complaint. It’s undoubted that 
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frivolous complaints don’t deserve the same expenditure 
of resources as cases involving a broad public interest 
issue. There are many interests at stake, and they need to 
be balanced. 

Again, like many others, I would say that the legis-
lation is not perfect. It can be improved through clause-
by-clause, and perhaps even in the future. The essential 
elements are in line with international and domestic 
obligations and are the right ones, in my view. Persons 
protected by or subject to the human rights system 
deserve an enforcement system that is more than the 
piece of paper I have on my wall. So I urge you to pass 
this bill into law after due consideration of possible 
amendments. 
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The Chair: Thank you very much. You have about 
four minutes each. We’ll begin with the government side. 

Mr. McMeekin: Thanks very much for your pres-
entation. I was particularly impressed with your repeti-
tion of the concern about the appeal mechanism. I think, 
personally, that that’s one of the weaknesses I’ve seen in 
the legislation. Some of the amendments that have been 
brought forward by the Attorney General today and the 
words of many of the presenters, including the com-
mission itself and its chairperson—you’re reinforcing 
that, given the propensity to have all these sidebar deals 
cut that are really not in the interest of true justice in the 
longer term, we really need to ensure that that appeal 
mechanism’s there. Is that correct? 

Mr. Anand: I’m not sure about that. I don’t take a 
strong view on that, because I think it’s a tough issue, 
quite frankly. I think there are strong arguments on both 
sides. There’s the traditional administrative-law argu-
ment, which is when the courts should maintain a posi-
tion of deference to administrative tribunals. The 
landscape may have changed somewhat this morning in 
the sense that in the proposed amendments I note that 
there will be specific requirements of experience, 
expertise, interest in and sensitivity to human rights as 
well as representativeness of the diversity of Ontario’s 
population. That changes the calculus to some extent. 
The choice is, really: Do you want these decisions to be 
made by, let’s call it, an expert tribunal with particular 
sensitivity and knowledge of human rights issues or do 
you want them to be made by generalist judges who have 
no necessary expertise in these areas? That’s point 
number one. 

Point number two is that the appeal right, by and large, 
has been exercised by respondents and not by com-
plainants or by the commission to the divisional court in 
this province. That’s their right—I’m not criticizing that 
in any way—but one has to take that into account, in 
keeping with what I said a moment ago in terms of the 
prevailing stances, to the extent that there are any, of the 
courts versus tribunals. 

There’s a reason why you don’t simply have a right of 
civil action for human rights in the courts. That’s what 
you have in the United States. The EEOC has a six-
month period in which it can try to deal with the case and 

determine it. Either way, they don’t have a gatekeeping 
function and the case goes on to the courts. But it’s a 
civil action, a jury trial, it has all the costs and so on and 
it’s put in front of generalist judges. So I think there are 
strong arguments in favour of restricting judicial review 
by way of the path of the “patent unreasonableness” 
standard. 

Mr. McMeekin: I appreciate that clarification. 
Mrs. Elliott: Thank you very much, Mr. Anand, for 

appearing before the committee this morning. 
My only question relates to the rules of procedure that 

are to be adopted by the tribunal, which may have 
changed again somewhat with the amendments that have 
been proposed by the Attorney General. Once we get into 
the text of it, I guess we’ll really know. But just on the 
face of it, it would appear to me that it would still be 
more or less the status quo in the sense that the Statutory 
Powers Procedure Act may still not be required to apply 
to the rules of the tribunal. 

Do you have any views on why that should be so? I’m 
presuming that you would agree that they shouldn’t need 
to apply. That has certainly been a concern that’s been 
expressed to our committee, that those basic rules of 
natural justice should apply. I’d appreciate your com-
ments on that. 

Mr. Anand: I think that generally the rules under the 
SPPA should apply. It’s difficult to answer the question 
in the abstract without looking at a particular rule and its 
particular equivalent in the SPPA, but I think the prin-
ciple is clear—and, indeed, it’s clearer now than it was 
yesterday—that the concern that has been validly ex-
pressed that complainants would see their cases dis-
appear, in the sense of being dismissed, without reasons 
and without visible face-to-face adjudication of some 
kind has been drastically reduced, I would suggest, under 
this, and it should be. The tribunal has to have the power, 
in the interests of the public and in the interests of the 
parties before it, to look at a case as filed and say that it’s 
outside the jurisdiction; for example, it should go to the 
federal commission and it need not go through an oral 
hearing for that purpose. It’s the kinds of tools that the 
labour board has in those cases, but I think that it should 
be subject to an overriding requirement that the process 
be fair and expeditious in the circumstances. That will 
limit the circumstances in which an oral hearing is not 
required, and I think that’s the way it should be. 

Mrs. Elliott: Just one quick follow-up: Would you be 
in favour of removing the provision in the act that says 
that the SPPA does not apply to these proceedings? 

Mr. Anand: In general, I would be, but I would have 
to see exactly what the rules say before being able to say 
that clearly. 

Mrs. Elliott: Thank you very much. 
Mr. Kormos: Mr. Anand, you know, I hope, that I am 

a fan of yours, because I have counted on your counsel 
and relied upon it any number of times. 

In your comment about the funding proposal, I was 
here, as you were, with the Attorney General, who con-
jured up visions of offices of the worker adviser or legal 
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aid clinics across the province that are hard-pressed to 
deliver the modest amount of services that they’re 
mandated to do. 

We were up in Thunder Bay and we had a presentation 
by the aboriginal legal aid clinic—I hope I haven’t mis-
titled it. This small legal aid clinic is responsible for the 
two ridings of Kenora–Rainy River and Timmins–James 
Bay—Howie Hampton’s and Gilles Bisson’s—which 
cover the whole border from Manitoba to the Hudson’s 
Bay to James Bay’s coast. They’re saying that Human 
Rights Code access was a big issue. That remains to be 
seen. 

Mr. Anand: This can’t be a Toronto-centric model. It 
has to be regionalized as well. 

Mr. Kormos: Yes, thank you—and pretty highly 
regionalized, huh? 

Mr. Anand: I would expect so. 
Mr. Kormos: You talk about the labour board, and 

that’s fair enough. I have this problem in terms of under-
standing the parallel, because the labour board deals with 
a contractual relationship, primarily. There’s a public 
interest being expressed between workers and their 
bosses. What about the distinction between human rights 
advocacy in the public interest, as, for instance, Criminal 
Code prosecutions are conducted in the public interest—
it’s in the public interest to suppress crime—versus these 
private relationships, like worker-boss relationships, not-
withstanding that there’s a public interest prevailing; 
similarly in landlord-tenant tribunals—and I appreciate 
the expertise element of tribunal. There are some of us 
who see the role of the commission as very significant in 
terms of prosecuting, if you will— 

Interruption. 
Mr. Kormos: Somebody’s BlackBerry keeps going 

off, and that’s what causes that damned disruption. 
How about that distinction, because that takes us into 

this whole Bhadauria decision, yet the legislation incor-
porates human rights violations into civil actions if you 
can tie it into something else. It’s the bastard child or 
offspring, if you will, of the marriage between Bhadauria 
and the American model. Respond to those for us. 

Mr. Anand: You’ve asked a lot of questions. I’ll try 
to answer them. First of all, you’re right that there’s a 
distinction between the labour board model and the 
human rights system. That’s why I called it a modified 
labour board model. Without the public interest element 
in the form of a legal support centre to advise, assist and 
represent complainants in the human rights process, I say 
that the system falls to the ground, and it falls to the 
ground for exactly the reason that you’ve indicated: that 
there’s less of a public interest. There’s obviously a 
public interest in facilitating collective bargaining; the 
Labour Relations Act says that. But there isn’t the same 
public interest in every case, with the result that if the 
labour board gets a consent from a union and an em-
ployer, it signs it on one line and that’s the end of the 
case. It never really looks at it again. Indeed, I had this 
situation when I was chief commissioner, where the same 
case was essentially filed before the labour board and the 

Human Rights Commission. The labour board said, “Yes, 
sir,” to it because that’s the way it does its business. It’s 
not an advisory tribunal. But there was still a human 
rights complaint, to which we said, “No, sir,” because 
there was a public interest in the case going on and we 
were not going to sign the settlement. 
1140 

So I agree with you that there is a distinction. That’s 
why, as I say, there are at least two modifications to that, 
as I see it, in this legislation. One is mandatory legal 
support and the second is the role of the Human Rights 
Commission. I agree with you that the Human Rights 
Commission should have a role in certain cases where it 
wants to take on that role, and that, frankly, is what I 
recommended to La Forest as well. It was a stronger role 
for the commission, in the sense that the commission 
would be allowed to take over a case in that situation but 
could not be the gatekeeper. Under this legislation it 
can’t be the gatekeeper, but it can initiate, under the 
amendments proposed today, any complaint where it 
views it as being in the public interest. 

The final point with respect to Bhadauria: Again, 
that’s a difficult problem of public administration. Right 
now, you can file a human rights complaint and file a 
civil action in the courts over the same dismissal, and the 
jurisprudence is that they both go forward. Well, that’s 
two-stop shopping, it’s duplicative, it’s costly and 
respondents resent it. On the other hand, a complainant 
may get different remedies before the two different 
bodies, and so it’s important to try to marry that in some 
way that’s feasible. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you, sir. 
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Anand. 

CARP 
The Chair: The next presentation is from CARP: Mr. 

Bill Gleberzon. Good morning, sir. 
Mr. Bill Gleberzon: Good morning. 
The Chair: You have 30 minutes. You may begin. 
Mr. Gleberzon: I think that my presentation may take 

a somewhat different slant than that of the previous 
speaker. But before I begin, I’d like to tell the committee 
something about who we are. We represent 400,000 
members across the country, 250,000 in Ontario, who are 
50 years and older, retired or still working. We’re a non-
profit national organization that does not receive oper-
ating funds from any level of government. Our mandate 
is to promote and protect the rights and quality of life for 
mature Canadians and Ontarians. Our mission is to pro-
vide practical recommendations for the issues we raise. 
CARP’s magazine has close to a million readers, and our 
websites are accessed by 350,000 unique visits per 
month. 

I’ll say that this was written before the announcements 
were made, so we’ll make allowances for that. The 
addendum that’s been handed out addresses the an-
nouncements that were just made. 
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While there seems to be a consensus that reform of the 
Human Rights Commission process is necessary, CARP 
opposes the proposed total revamping of the Human 
Rights Commission as outlined in Bill 107 for a number 
of reasons. The bill goes too far in trying to correct flaws 
that have been identified with the current commission, 
such as the time it takes to resolve cases. However, issues 
such as these can be rectified by amending existing regu-
lations and procedures without the major overhaul pro-
posed in the new bill. 

It is likely that the legislation will not eliminate or 
reduce the chronic backlog of human rights cases. 
Rather, it will shuffle the lineup from the commission to 
the tribunal without setting enforceable deadlines to en-
sure that cases are heard and decided within a reasonable 
time. In fact, the gatekeeping function—that is, to ascer-
tain if “the proceeding is frivolous, vexatious or is com-
menced in bad faith”—that has bogged down an 
expeditious resolution of cases before the commission 
will now have to be undertaken by the tribunal, so 
nothing’s been resolved at all in that regard. In fact, 
because cases are still before the commission at the time 
of transference of responsibilities to the tribunal, the time 
lag will be increased as both old and new cases will sim-
ultaneously be before the tribunal. This will necessitate 
that the tribunal hire additional staff to dispose of the 
extra workload, I would assume, unless they’re just going 
to let it pile up, which I assume they won’t want to do. 
The legislation may force hundreds of current discrim-
ination cases to start all over again in the new system 
without the benefit of continuity. 

By splitting the commission and the tribunal, the roles 
of each will be undermined because the current inte-
grated process will be replaced by silos. And by creating 
an anti-racism secretariat and a disability rights secret-
ariat, the commission will be subjected to further silos. It 
seems to us that the government should be moving in the 
opposite direction: You integrate silos wherever possible 
rather than create them. As well, the appearance will be 
created that the areas represented by these two secret-
ariats are the primary foci of the revised commission. In 
fact, it’s our understanding that the African Canadian 
Legal Clinic opposes the anti-racism secretariat and that 
ARCH opposes the disability rights secretariat. 

Bill 107 is based on the assumption that the heads of 
the commission and the tribunal will automatically col-
laborate. Although the current heads appear to be eager 
to do this, there’s no guarantee that their successors will 
follow suit. Systems have to be built on legislation, not 
on the goodwill of particular individuals. 

Human rights protection in Ontario will be weakened 
if the blending of investigation and prosecution of both 
systemic and individual cases does not continue. The 
tribunal will only deal with individual cases, and there-
fore systemic investigation and prosecution will suffer 
and permit the continuation of systemic discrimination. 
Of course, that’s been changed with the new amendment, 
because the commission will be able to undertake in-
vestigation and prosecution of systemic discrimination. 
But the fundamental principle doesn’t change. It’s a kind 

of papering over, making a smiley face out of a bad 
situation. While the commission can make represent-
ations regarding cases of systemic discrimination to the 
tribunal, Bill 107 places the latter organization under no 
obligations to permit the commission’s intervention. And 
I gather that the new amendments do not change that 
restriction. 

The present cost-free legal representation is not 
protected in the legislation and could be replaced with 
fees. The legislation only vaguely refers to the possibility 
of legal assistance, in 46.1(1). Although the minister has 
stated that free legal assistance will be available without 
means testing, this verbal promise is not ensured in the 
legislation, and, as I’ll point out, we believe the amend-
ment does not ensure it either. Otherwise, the major 
beneficiaries of Bill 107 could be the legal community—
I know the previous speaker has said that he doesn’t 
believe that would be the case, but we do—and probably 
the province because the cost to the consumer could limit 
the number of cases before the tribunal since many 
Ontarians would be unable to pay legal fees. 

The legislation permits the Human Rights Tribunal to 
charge user fees, which is unacceptable in principle. 
Moreover, according to the legislation, human rights 
complainants may have to pay their opponents’ legal 
costs if they lose. Right now, the tribunal can order the 
Human Rights Commission to pay the legal costs of the 
party accused of discrimination if the complainant loses. 
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The current right to appeal decisions of the tribunal 
will be eliminated, and judicial review of a decision will 
be seriously restricted to the difficult test of demon-
strating that the decision is patently unreasonable. You 
heard from the previous speaker, and we heard from 
others, that judges do not necessarily have the training to 
deal with appeals of human rights cases. When you get 
down to it, a lot of judges don’t have the necessary skills 
in a lot of the cases they hear, so it’s a non-issue when 
you get down to it. That’s why they take time in making 
their decisions, so they can bone up on what they don’t 
know. 

The changes to the Ontario human rights system 
proposed in Bill 107 are unique, as far as we know, and 
there’s no evidence or precedent to demonstrate that the 
division between the commission and the tribunal will 
produce more effective and efficient human rights pro-
tection for Ontarians. 

The commission has served as the defender of the 
public interest. This role will be severely weakened as a 
result of the proposed legislation. Indeed, there is no one 
on the tribunal to assume this role, because they believe 
that to do so would bias them. We heard that from the 
chair of the tribunal. Therefore, it is essential for the 
commission to be directly engaged in individual human 
rights cases in order to provide depth in their reports, 
public education and advocacy regarding systemic vio-
lations and protection. Individual and systemic cases go 
together. That’s how you learn that cases are systemic, 
because you’ve investigated the cases of a number of 
individuals. 
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An example of the importance of the crossover of 
roles is the commission’s outstanding document Time for 
Action. To remind the committee, I brought a copy of 
that document, which is outstanding. It serves as a model 
to fight ageism—and I’m just talking about the ageism 
part of it in this regard—across Canada. In fact, Time for 
Action had a major influence on the abolition of manda-
tory retirement in Ontario. So that’s the result of blending 
individual and systemic approaches to human rights 
investigation and trials. 

Indeed, the Human Rights Commission itself has 
played a leading role as a model for other provinces and, 
I understand, for other countries as well. This role will be 
jeopardized by the proposed legislation. 

The results of British Columbia’s tampering with its 
human rights commission shows that ill-conceived 
changes can undermine the protection of human rights, 
which is exactly what has occurred in BC. 

In conclusion, CARP recommends that Bill 107 
should be withdrawn entirely and sent back to the draw-
ing board. This review should include broad consult-
ations across the province to maximize participation 
rather than consultation only with selected individuals. 

I’d now just like to make some comments on the 
proposed amendments to Bill 107, which we found out 
about in today’s Toronto Star. Apparently, the minister is 
pledging a human rights legal support centre, where 
needed. We don’t know what that means. Based on what 
criteria? Will it be income tested? Because while it’s true 
we want to make sure that poorer complainants have the 
right to appear before the Human Rights Tribunal, why 
should that not apply to those who do have money? Why 
should they pay to defend their human rights? We 
therefore find this all very vague. 

The second amendment talked about limiting the 
tribunal’s power to dismiss a case as frivolous without 
first holding a hearing. Well, the only way they’re going 
to do that is by lengthening the process of investigation, 
which is, as we understand, what caused the introduction 
of this legislation in the first place. This bill won’t solve 
that problem, which, as I say, we understand was at the 
core of the legislation in the first place. 

The third, we understand, was to give the commission 
investigative and enforcement powers to pursue cases of 
systemic discrimination, and will stipulate that the com-
mission’s report goes to the Legislature. This is moving 
in the right direction, especially in regard to its reporting 
structure, but also, I should add, in regard to allowing it 
to investigate and enforce these kind of cases. As I said, 
without blending individual and systemic cases, we 
won’t get the kind of strength and depth that is needed in 
understanding what is going on across the province. But 
this reporting structure should apply to the tribunal as 
well, or the gulf between the two silos will be widened 
even more. Similarly, the split between the two silos will 
be accentuated by differentiating the areas for investi-
gation and enforcement. 

CARP advises this committee and the Attorney Gen-
eral to talk with the commission staff, if it follows our 
advice about withdrawing the bill, because who else 

knows better what solutions are needed to make the com-
mission more effective and efficient? I can talk only of 
my own personal experience in a variety of management 
positions, in which I found the only way to find out 
what’s going on and what should be done is by talking to 
the staff who deal with the issues on a daily basis. 

The Chair: Thank you. We’ll begin with Mrs. Elliott. 
Mrs. Elliott: Thank you very much for your pres-

entation. It was succinct, concise, and I think really iden-
tified the major issues that are outstanding with respect to 
Bill 107. Again, until we’ve all had a chance to review 
the amendments in depth, we’re not really going to know 
whether all of your questions have been answered. 

My concern, as is yours, is with respect to the oper-
ation of the systemic investigation of complaints versus 
the individual investigation of complaints, that there 
really need to be some communication supports, report-
ing supports, something built into the legislation to make 
sure that that communication does happen, because I 
think that’s key if the commission is to have value for 
investigating systemic complaints. So I certainly agree 
with you in that respect. I guess we’ll have to look 
forward to what’s actually in the amendments to see how 
they deal with it. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much, Mr. Gleberzon. 
The members of CARP are well served by their organ-
ization. You are one of the most effective advocacy 
groups and one of the most effective lobbyists for the 
greying members of our society, which includes more 
than a couple of people in this room; I’m talking about 
here at this table. 

You raise some very interesting points. I sat here 
through Mr. Bryant’s comments this morning and read 
his briefing note, and I don’t take a whole lot of comfort. 
There may not be a means test in the provision of these 
services, but—I don’t know if you’re familiar with the 
Office of the Worker Adviser here in the province of 
Ontario. They advocate for workers in front of the WSIB, 
and their backlogs are two and three years. The backlog 
is created at that level of intake. So there may well not be 
a means test because what that means is that people with 
means don’t have to use the advocate that the Attorney 
General claims will be provided. They don’t have to wait 
two and three years for their case to be processed through 
the stage of the human rights legal support centre. So 
people who’ve got the cash can go to the head of the line. 
Down where I come from, we call that a two-tier justice 
system. It doesn’t seem fair at all. 

You are also the first person here in Toronto during 
these committee hearings who has raised an element of 
the bill that is not going to get the attention that it should, 
although, having raised it today, you may well provoke 
more interest. Burying an anti-racism secretariat and a 
disability rights secretariat in the commission, rather than 
having these as stand-alone bodies with their own fund-
ing and their own mandates, I think—and I agree with 
you—is a slight to all Ontarians, because all Ontarians 
have an interest in fighting racism and advocating for the 
disabled. 
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The issue of cost: When you privatize the system, 

when you turn it into a litigious system where there’s 
direct access, of course you have to have costs, because 
respondents will argue, “If I’m being prosecuted and the 
claimant is unsuccessful, why should I have to bear my 
own legal costs?” Once again, as some of us in this room 
know, when you go into a lawyer’s office, Mrs. Elliott, 
and you talk about wanting to litigate against somebody, 
one of the first things the lawyer has to do is caution that 
person that even though they may have a pretty good 
claim, if they lose, they’re going to have the CIBC 
daylights kicked out of them in terms of having to pay 
costs. That’s a real barrier. Isn’t that strange, a com-
mission that has contained within it a disability rights 
secretariat building this kind of barrier to people seeking 
redress for discrimination, or for victims of discrim-
ination to be told, “You’ve got to be careful, because if 
you proceed with this and should you lose”—because we 
know, Mr. Zimme, —don’t we, that one of the other 
things lawyers have to tell their clients is, “No matter 
how good you think your case is, there’s always a chance 
of losing. If you lose, you could have to pay costs”? 

You’ve raised some very significant issues and I truly 
appreciate your participation in this process. 

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kormos. The government 
side. 

Mr. McMeekin: Hi, Bill. How are you? You and I 
have fought a lot of battles together, including the battle 
against ageism and the move away from mandatory 
retirement, so I know first-hand some of the abilities that 
you and CARP bring to the table, and interestingly the 
seniors’ secretariat, which you’ve been very active in. 

I was intrigued by your comments about silos. Frank-
ly, I’m easy about it as long as it gets done. I just would 
make that observation. But as usual, your comments are 
helpful, particularly your reference to legal assistance for 
Ontarians, some clarification of that, and the fact that 
there’s no requirement that the commission limit itself to 
systematic discrimination issues. I appreciate that as well. 

Let me focus in, then, on your suggestion about the 
silos, because we’ve had some discussion about that, 
whether that’s the right way to go or not. There is a belief 
in some quarters that when you set up a secretariat, be it a 
secretariat to deal with a co-operative as an economic 
development tool, which I will be presenting a private 
member’s bill on down the road, a seniors’ secretariat, a 
racism secretariat or whatever—can you comment about 
your reference to silos, and if CARP’s position is not to 
go there, what alternative focus might guarantee that we 
get the job done there? 

Mr. Gleberzon: I think you have it. It already exists; 
we have an integrated system that already exists. What it 
needs to be is reformed, not totally revised. I’m not sure 
if that’s what you’re asking me, but that’s where I think 
the answer lies. By speaking to the people who know 
how the system should work, who know how it does 
work and how it can be repaired, I think we can get the 
kind of system you’re talking about, one that’s going to 

be fair, one that’s going to be expeditious, one that’s 
going to—I can’t say it would reduce costs, but use 
money wisely. I think that’s the way to go. 

Mr. McMeekin: Ms. Hall was out this morning, and 
she went out of her way to say that that’s exactly what 
the commission is doing: meeting around the clock with 
the government to make sure things are fair and ex-
peditious. 

Mr. Gleberzon: But I think that, talking of silos, crea-
ting these kinds of silos within the human rights sector 
will go against that effort. 

Mr. McMeekin: Bill, you may be right. I really 
appreciate your wise counsel on that. Thank you. 

The Chair: Thank you for your presentation. 

COALITION FOR LESBIAN AND GAY 
RIGHTS IN ONTARIO 

The Chair: Next we have the Council for Lesbian and 
Gay Rights in Ontario. Folks, can I get you to state your 
names for Hansard before you speak. You have 30 
minutes, and you may begin. 

Mr. Richard Hudler: My name is Richard Hudler. 
Thank you very much for giving us this opportunity to 
address the committee. I would like to introduce us and 
say a few words, and then the others will speak. Arti 
Mehta is our political action coordinator. Tom Warner is 
the founding member of the Coalition for Lesbian and 
Gay Rights in Ontario—it’s “Coalition”—and we call it 
CLGRO. He is one of our directors. He has a long history 
with the Ontario Human Rights Commission, having 
served as a commissioner from 1993 to 1996. Nick Mulé 
has been with CLGRO since 1989 and is also one of our 
directors. He is chair of the Rainbow Health Network, a 
reference group of CLGRO. 

I am the CLGRO administrator. I also have some 
history with the commission, having served for a period 
on a gay and lesbian advisory committee that was set up 
on sexual orientation shortly after sexual orientation was 
included in the Human Rights Code, and having gone 
through a successful complaint process 10 years ago. 

The Coalition for Lesbian and Gay Rights in Ontario 
is a coalition of some 20 groups and hundreds of in-
dividual members in all parts of the province. Founded 
early in 1975, CLGRO has concentrated its efforts in the 
areas of grassroots organizing, public education and gov-
ernment lobbying. Since the first 12 years of CLGRO’s 
existence was devoted to getting sexual orientation 
included in the Human Rights Code, CLGRO also has a 
long history with the commission. 

When I filed my complaint against the mayor of the 
city of London, Ontario, for refusing— 

Mr. Kormos: Dave says she’s back. 
Mr. Hudler: Yes, I hear that. 
Mr. McMeekin: They can’t find her there. 
Mr. Hudler: —for refusing to issue a proclamation 

for lesbian and gay pride in 1995, I wanted the complaint 
to be in the name of the Homophile Association of 
London, Ontario, which had filed the application for their 
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proclamation and of which I was president at the time. It 
was necessary for me to file as an individual. 

I want to express my appreciation of the changes sug-
gested in Bill 107 which will allow for systemic com-
plaints and will support the ability of the commission to 
deal with such complaints. 

There are other aspects of the legislation which we 
support and there are aspects we seriously believe need to 
be changed, and I will ask those to be addressed by Arti, 
Tom and Nick. 

Ms. Arti Mehta: The Coalition for Lesbian and Gay 
Rights in Ontario believes that Bill 107, if adopted as 
currently drafted, could establish a much weaker and less 
accessible human rights system in Ontario than the one 
we have now. While there is much in Bill 107 that is 
commendable and that is intended to streamline and 
enhance the system, those features will not be sufficient 
to ensure that Ontario has a better human rights system 
than we have today unless the bill’s obvious flaws are 
corrected. 

In particular, we have been concerned that the new 
system created by Bill 107 in its current form would not 
be publicly funded in the future. We have been worried 
that we could be confronted with a system in which users 
would be required to pay fees in order to make an appli-
cation to simply get the chance to have their complaint 
considered. In addition, Bill 107 could result in a system 
in which there is no guarantee that complainants would 
be provided with free legal and other assistance in the 
preparation of their complaints or in understanding the 
legal process that would be used to deal with complaints. 

We do welcome the fact that Bill 107 would establish 
a new Human Rights Commission having a mandate to 
identify and promote the elimination of systemic discrim-
ination practices, including developing and conducting 
programs of public education and information. And pro-
viding complainants with direct access to the new Human 
Rights Tribunal for disposition of their complaints is a 
positive change. 

But we are calling for substantial amendments to Bill 
107 to strengthen its provisions and ensure that the new 
human rights system that it establishes really will be 
more efficient and more effective than the one we have 
now. 
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Mr. Tom Warner: We are aware that the Attorney 
General has stated that Bill 107 will be amended to en-
sure that the system will be publicly funded and that 
every complainant will have access to free, independent 
legal counsel to handle their case regardless of the com-
plainant’s income, although I gather there’s still some 
question as to whether that is the case, but that was our 
understanding. However, very few details have been pro-
vided to date to give assurance that the new system will 
have the infrastructure necessary to provide assistance to 
complainants, will have sufficient public funding and 
will be robust enough to ensure that complainants really 
do get their day in court. 

I was a member of the advisory committee to the 
Human Rights Code Review Task Force that produced 

the Cornish report that recommended a new system to 
provide direct access to a tribunal process. Bill 107 
contains this important change, which CLGRO supports. 
We do not support calls that have been made by many 
other groups in the province to scrap the direct access 
route and to retain the investigation requirement and pro-
cess of the current system. Direct access to the tribunal 
process offers the best prospect to overcome the all-too-
well-known problems of backlog, delay and dissatis-
faction with the investigative process that plague the 
current system. 

But a key feature of the Cornish report’s proposed 
new system was providing direct access to a tribunal pro-
cess within a publicly funded system in which regional 
equality rights centres would provide free legal and other 
assistance to complainants. There was no contemplation 
that users of the system would be required to pay to 
access it or to cover the costs of a hearing. As the report 
stated, “The public commitment to funding represent-
ation for human rights claims is crucial and should be 
continued. It represents an important statement by Ontar-
ians that discrimination is a societal problem requiring 
publicly funded solutions.” That’s from “Achieving 
Equality,” on page 62. Accessibility by those who have a 
need to access the human rights system was a cornerstone 
of the Cornish recommendations. 

In contrast, Bill 107, as it currently stands, creates a 
new section 45.2 of the Human Rights Code that gives 
the tribunal the authority to establish and charge fees for 
expenses it incurs in connection with a proceeding, 
subject of course to the approval of the minister. This 
introduces the prospect that the tribunal could establish 
fees that must be paid in order to have a complaint dealt 
with by the tribunal. In addition, a proposed new section 
46.1 of the code states that the minister may enter into 
agreements with prescribed persons or entities to provide 
legal and other services to applicants or other parties to a 
proceeding before the tribunal, and the minister may pro-
vide payment for the services. That wording does not 
oblige the minister to ensure that complainants are 
provided with assistance or to pay for the services. 

These two new sections of the code, if retained in the 
final version of Bill 107, could someday result in a com-
pletely user-pay human rights system. Under such a 
system, complainants would be left on their own to hire a 
lawyer, if they could afford one, or they could try to 
navigate the hard-to-understand legal process on their 
own without any legal advice or assistance, often against 
corporate or government respondents who have consider-
able financial resources to pay for the best possible legal 
representation. A user-pay system would disadvantage or 
totally disenfranchise the great majority of the people 
that the human rights system is intended to assist. 

On a personal level, I want to add that I am not among 
those individuals who have expressed total opposition to 
the reforms contained in Bill 107. I am both a community 
activist who has provided advice and assistance to many 
people about filing complaints of discrimination and a 
former Ontario human rights commissioner who was 
once faced with the difficult task of deciding which 
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complaints, based on the evidence presented by the in-
vestigation, should be referred to a board of inquiry. I 
have seen the current system from both sides. I know all 
too well the inadequacies of the current system. 

I do not support retaining the status quo for human 
rights in Ontario. Reform of the system is long overdue. 
What is needed is a robust, publicly funded system that 
will be up to the job that needs to be done. 

The solution does not lie in simply providing more 
funding for the current system. It requires substantial 
structural change. Bill 107, as it is currently drafted, only 
goes part of the way to providing that change. 

Mr. Nick Mulé: In conclusion, we want to reiterate 
that CLGRO supports reform of the human rights system 
in Ontario. Reform is long overdue. It has been over 20 
years since there has been a significant overhaul of the 
Human Rights Code’s basic provisions and of the struc-
ture and mandate of the commission. We commend the 
Attorney General for taking action through the intro-
duction of Bill 107 to correct the many flaws of the 
current system. 

Now that the process of reform has finally been put in 
motion by way of legislation, it is vitally important that 
the results achieved be the right ones. CLGRO has long 
called for the Human Rights Commission to be given a 
mandate to deal with systemic discrimination and to con-
duct public education on human rights issues. We are 
pleased that through Bill 107, those important improve-
ments to the human rights system will finally be 
achieved. The opportunity provided by the introduction 
of Bill 107 to achieve significant, meaningful reform of 
the Human Rights Commission should not be lost. We 
don’t want Bill 107 to be scrapped, but we do support its 
being significantly amended. We believe that without the 
amendments we have called for today, Bill 107 could 
result in the replacement of one seriously flawed system 
with another system that is just as seriously flawed. 
Frankly, that would be a tragedy for the thousands of 
Ontarians for whom the Human Rights Commission is 
the only place they can turn to in order to seek redress 
when confronted with unlawful discrimination. 

Bill 107 must enshrine the principles of full public 
funding and free access to the system, including the guar-
antee of the right of complainants to receive legal and 
other services free of charge, and it needs to clearly spe-
cify the means by which those objectives will be 
fulfilled. Anything less than that will leave open the 
prospect of a much less accessible and ultimately less 
effective human rights system in future than the one we 
have now. 

The Chair: Thank you very much. We’ll begin with 
Mr. Kormos. 

Mr. Kormos: Thank you, Chair. 
I was waiting for him to let me know how much time 

we had. 
The Chair: Five minutes each. 
Mr. Kormos: Thank you very much for being here 

today. Let’s talk about the funding of the support for 
victims of discrimination. Earlier today we were given a 
copy of the proposed amendment: “The minister may 

enter into agreements with prescribed persons or entities 
for the purposes of providing legal services and such 
other services as may be prescribed to applicants or other 
parties to a proceeding under the tribunal”—applicants or 
other parties. “An agreement under subsection 1 would 
provide for payment of services.” 

So then in the little explanatory note, as these papers 
are prepared—if there are going to be weasel words, this 
is where the weasel words come up, in the little cross-
word puzzle: “The minister would establish a human 
rights legal support centre”—singular—“to provide a 
range of services, including information, support, advice, 
assistance”—so far that stuff is being done through those 
damned 1-800 numbers, which I suspect will soon, as the 
government loses more lottery revenue, turn into 1-900 
numbers—“and legal representation. The minister would 
fund the legal support centre”—again, singular. “The 
services would be available, where needed, across the 
province.” The “where needed” could imply where geo-
graphically they’re needed. Well, hell, where wouldn’t 
they be needed? What part of the province doesn’t have 
people living in it that are potential victims of 
discrimination? That then suggests that “where needed” 
may well have a means test. Services where needed; in 
other words, by whom are they needed? 
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At the end of the day, though, we’re still left with the 
observations of things like offices of the worker adviser, 
where the waiting lists are two years plus, of legal aid 
clinics, and I don’t know—are you in London still? 

Mr. Hudler: No, I’m in Toronto. 
Mr. Kormos: You’re in Toronto. But legal aid clinics 

where, across the province, they are so underfunded that 
they’ve had to restrict their mandates in terms of who 
they represent, or legal aid certificates with—what are 
the hourly rates now? I have no idea; $60 an hour; $70 an 
hour—or with caps on the number of hours available. 
The government can’t fund the legal aid system as it 
exists now. Women seeking access to Family Court to 
protect themselves from abusive spouses and murderous 
spouses can’t get lawyers because lawyers won’t take 
their certificates because they’ve put an artificial cap on 
the number of hours, for Pete’s sake. 

Sorry, my friends. I don’t take much comfort in the 
announcement today. I really don’t. I’m really concerned 
about it because today was a PR exercise—God bless 
‘em for doing it—a PR exercise on the part of Mr. 
Bryant, and I like Mr. Bryant, but to try to overcome the 
resistance to this bill on some of those fundamental 
issues. We’ll have fundamental disagreements about 
whether the Human Rights Commission should function 
and prosecute in the public interest, which is where I 
come from, or in the more private interest, which is 
where the supporters of direct access are coming from. 
Fair enough. That’s a legitimate argument; that’s a legiti-
mate debate. But damn it, I’m disturbed by the effort 
today to pull the wool over folks’ eyes in terms of this 
promise of funding when it’s a pretty hollow promise. 
I’m sorry for having gone on like that. I don’t usually do 
that. 
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Laughter. 
Mr. Kormos: I meant “apologize.” But I thank you 

very much for your focus and your concern about that 
issue. That’s something that we’ve got to push the gov-
ernment on. 

Mrs. Van Bommel: I want to say thank you for 
making your presentation. There have been issues 
brought up this morning, and I’d like to address one with 
you. I know you didn’t deal with it in your presentation, 
so if you would give it some thought I’d appreciate that 
very much. There has been a concern about the—and it 
was brought up initially by Barbara Hall, who’s the cur-
rent chief commissioner. She talks about the ability to 
appeal. We’ve been hearing different interpretations or 
different opinions on the ability to appeal. One of them is 
that there should be an ability to appeal a tribunal’s 
decisions to a higher court. Then, on the other side, what 
we’ve heard this morning is that very often the people 
who exercise that appeal mechanism are the respondents 
because they’re not happy with the decision, or they use 
it as a delay tactic to avoid acting on the decision. I just 
want to have your opinion, and I know I’m kind of 
throwing this at you at the last moment, but I’d like to 
have your opinion on the idea of, should there be an 
appeal mechanism or not? 

Mr. Warner: I guess I’ll attempt to answer that. Yes, 
I think there should. I actually think the current provision 
in Bill 107 is probably sufficient on that in terms of pro-
viding for an appeal but specifying the grounds on which 
an appeal could be made. I think that would certainly 
address the point that you’ve made that often it’s the 
respondent who wants to appeal. It would certainly re-
duce the number of instances where there could be an 
appeal, but I think it probably strikes a good balance. My 
own view is, probably what is in 107 now is sufficient on 
that. 

Mrs. Elliott: I just have a brief comment rather than a 
question, but I would like to also thank all of you for 
making the time to be here this morning and to make 
your presentation. I certainly share your concern that, if 
the model is to be changed, there’s an absolute need for 
the appropriate supports in place to support complain-
ants, who, as you know, are very often very vulnerable 
people who are of very limited financial means. I have to 
say, I share Mr. Kormos’s concern with respect to the 
amendments that we’ve seen so far—although we 
haven’t seen the full text of them—that don’t seem to go 
to the extent that is really needed in order to ensure that 
those supports will be in place. I think that’s something 
that we will need to follow up much more closely as we 
continue our deliberations in the committee. I thank you 
for highlighting that and, again, thank you very much for 
your presentation. 

The Chair: Thank you very much for your pres-
entation. 

Mr. Zimmer: Mr. Chair, I want to bring forward a 
motion. I’ve given advance notice to my colleagues 
opposite, so I’ll make the motion. I move that Michael 
Gottheil, who’s the chair of the Human Rights Tribunal, 
be invited to attend tomorrow, Thursday, November 16, 

and that we find a slot to fit him in. I think it’s important 
to hear from Mr. Gottheil. He is the chair of the Human 
Rights Tribunal as opposed to the commission. Ob-
viously, what goes on in the tribunal or what will go on 
in the tribunal if this Bill 107 is passed is important. It’s 
the tribunal that will be designing the rules. So I think, 
given all that we’ve heard, it’s entirely appropriate that 
we hear from him. Earlier we moved to extend an 
invitation to the chair of the commission and the past 
chairs of the commission, so I think it’s entirely 
appropriate that we hear from the chair of the tribunal. 

Mr. Kormos: I intend to support that motion, but we 
also moved and passed a motion to have front-line staff 
from the commission appear before this body. Those 
front-line staff have been frustrated, intimidated and 
effectively prevented from coming before this body. I say 
to you, Mr. Zimmer, I support your motion. We should 
be hearing from everybody with any background, experi-
ence, counsel that could be provided to us with respect to 
this matter. As I say, it’s a very serious matter. But I am 
incredibly concerned about the fact that those front-line 
staff have to date, insofar as I am aware, been told 
they’re not to appear in front of this committee. It is up to 
the ADM senior management to choose—because we 
didn’t just ask for commissioners and former com-
missioners; we asked for management staff, non-union 
staff. They’ve got important things to say. We heard from 
a former management staff person this morning, the very 
first presenter, Ms. Silberman, who unfortunately was 
sarcastically mocked by the person who succeeded her. 
You’ll recall that comment. 

So we asked for management staff; we asked for front-
line staff. That means unionized staff. I say that it’s up to 
management to decide which management staff come 
here. I say it’s up to OPSEU to decide which front-line 
staff come here. So that’s a serious problem. We’ve got 
some obstruction of the work of this committee going on 
somewhere. That could well be a contempt of this com-
mittee. I just put notice forward today that this is going to 
become a very serious issue if this committee’s motion to 
have front-line staff here is frustrated, obstructed by 
somebody at some senior level in the commission tri-
bunal or in the ministry overseeing it. 

I expect there will be other motions as we proceed. 
This is going to be a lengthy process and I have no 
qualms about that. We’re going to be spending a lot of 
time in this committee room over the course of this 
month and next month and then into the winter months, 
and that’s fine by me. We’ve been hearing some fascin-
ating stuff and, as you well know, I have no qualms about 
hearing from people who are on all sides of this issue—
who are supportive of the proposal, who are opposed to 
the proposal, who are critical of it in any respect—
because I think we’d better be very, very cautious in 
terms of how we approach this. I’m telling you now—
you’re the parliamentary assistant—somebody’s throw-
ing their weight around at a senior level. I will do my 
damned best to make sure that is not going to be success-
ful. I have no further comments on this. 
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Mrs. Elliott: I would certainly support the motion as I 

understand it, which was to include front-line staff. I 
think we need to have some mechanism to make sure that 
those staff are able to come forward if they have rep-
resentations they wish to make before this committee. 

Mr. Zimmer: This motion deals with Mr. Gottheil. 
There was a motion that was dealt with earlier, and I 
think Mr. Kormos is speaking to issues surrounding that 
one. But this one just deals with Mr. Gottheil’s attend-
ance tomorrow. 

The Chair: We have an opening at 10:40 tomorrow 
morning for 20 minutes. If the committee is in agreement 
with that, we can slot him in for that time. Or we can start 
earlier. 

Mr. Kormos: What time are we booked till to-
morrow? 

The Chair: We’re booked from 9:30 until 12. 
Mr. Kormos: I’m prepared to agree to sit till 12:30 to 

accommodate this person for 30 minutes. He may or may 
not use the 30 minutes, but it would be less than fair to 
not accord him— 

The Chair: We’ll have to sit until 1. The last pres-
entation tomorrow is for 12, so that will go to 12:30. So 
if you want to accommodate this gentleman at the end, 
we will have to sit until 1. 

Mr. Kormos: No, no. You have a 20-minute slot 
available. I’m saying, extend that 10 minutes. Everybody 
is going to be delayed by 10 minutes. My apologies to 
the people who will be inconvenienced, but give this 
chair of the tribunal a 30-minute slot and just push every-
thing ahead 10 minutes so we’ll be here till 12:40 or 
12:45. 

The Chair: We’ll do that, then. 
Mr. Kormos: Again, it’s a simple matter of you not 

noting the clock. And a curse on anybody who draws 
your attention to it. There is no clock in this room 
anyway. 

The Chair: Mr. Zimmer, can you repeat the motion? 

Mr. Zimmer: That Mr. Michael Gottheil, the chair of 
the Human Rights Tribunal, be invited to attend this 
committee tomorrow at 10:40 for a 30-minute pres-
entation. 

The Chair: Okay. If the committee is in agreement 
with that—okay. 

Then that ends today’s— 
Mrs. Elliott: Chair, are we going to be able to get a 

copy of the full text of the amendments, not only the 
members of the committee but the members of the public 
who are making presentations? Can we get them im-
mediately? I understand there was some suggestion of a 
technical briefing tomorrow afternoon. However, as I 
understand it, that’s just for Mr. Kormos and myself, but 
I think it’s important for those people who are doing 
presentations tomorrow morning. Some people really felt 
disadvantaged by the fact that they did not have the 
benefit of those amendments before them today. I think 
it’s important that they have access to that. 

Interruption. 
Mr. Kormos: Braille? If I may speak to that, that’s 

not only fair, but with some embarrassment I have to 
acknowledge, and it’s an embarrassment that I suggest 
that everybody should share with me, that it was a 
comment from the spectators that Braille would be an 
appropriate—again, look at where we’re at, that that 
didn’t come naturally, that we didn’t address it uni-
laterally. The fact is that persons with disabilities have a 
very strong interest in this. We’ve acknowledged that by 
making strong efforts to ensure that there is access to this 
committee. This committee would be embarrassed if it 
were not to make those same briefing materials available 
in Braille. 

Mr. Zimmer: Let me work on this over the—and I 
understand the point; it’s well taken. We’ll figure out 
some way to deal with this. 

Mr. Kormos: Because, yes, it would be discrimin-
atory, wouldn’t it? 

The Chair: That is the end for today’s meeting. We 
will meet tomorrow morning at 9:30. 

The committee adjourned at 1235. 
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